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	        CORRECTED FINAL

        DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case Nos.  200508739

        AWCB Decision No.  08-0171
         Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

         on September 24, 2008


On May 13 and 14, 2008, we heard the employee’s claim for workers’ compensation benefits at Juneau, Alaska.  Attorney Tom Batchelor represented the employee. Attorney Patricia Zobel represented the employer Durette Construction Co., Inc. and its insurer, the Alaska Timber Insurance Exchange (ATIE), referred to jointly as “employer” in this decision.   We proceeded as a quorum of two, under AS 23.30.005(f).  We closed the record on the current disputes
 at the conclusion of the hearing on May 14, 2008. 


ISSUES
1.  Whether we should give lesser weight to the second independent medical examination (SIME) report and opinions of Charles N. Brooks, MD, who participated in an earlier employer-sponsored medical evaluation (EIME) of the employee? 

2. Whether the employee’s claim dated March 15, 2006 is compensable?

3.  Whether the employee has shown entitlement to TTD from March 22, 2006 and continuing?

4.  Whether the employer has shown entitlement to offset for Social Security benefits received by the employee?

5.  Whether the employee shall be awarded attorneys fees and costs at this stage of the dispute?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
A. Summary of treating medical records and employee’s work prior to 2005:

The employee has a significant history of back injury and treatment, before the 2005 reported injury at issue here.  This history is summarized as follows.  

In 1991, at age 29, while working in California as a logger for an Oregon company, the employee reported injury to his low back.
  Ultimately diagnosed with ruptured discs (herniated nucleus pulposus) at both L4-5 and L5-S1, the employee underwent discectomies at both levels in April 1991;
 repeat discectomies at both levels again in May 1991;
 discogram confirming continued discogenic symptoms in February 1992;
 repeat discectomy and posterior fusion from L4 to S1 in March 1992;
 fusion hardware removal and exploration of the fusion in


February 1993;
  repeat discogram at L4-5, L5-S1, and also at L3-4, in February 1997;
 and anterior fusion L5 to S1 with retroperitoneal placement of prosthetic cages in April 1997.
  From 1991 to 1997, the employee had significant and long-term physical therapy and pharmacotherapy, including epidural steroid injections, opioids and other pain medications.
  By June 1997 the employee reported that the April 1997 surgery had finally alleviated his discogenic pain, and he stopped taking opioid medication.
  

During the time period 1991 to 1997, the medical records report the condition of the L3-4 segment as follows:

· 2/28/91 MRI, unremarkable

· 5/8/91 CT scan, “normal in appearance”

· 12/27/91 MRI, normal in appearance

· 1/9/92 MRI, “well hydrated”

· 12/10/96 flexion/extension lateral x-ray, “significant amount of angular motion . . . as expected”

· 12/19/96 MRI, “some interim development of central protrusion intervertebral disc L3-4 level with, however, no definite nerve root impingement;”
  Dr. Schwaegler’s review of the same MRI films reported: “reasonably well hydrated.  However, he does appear to have a disc herniation at L3-4.  This appears to be right paracentrally located, possibly even in the foraminal zone at L3.  It appears to impact both the L3 and the L4 nerve roots”
 

· 2/18/97 discogram, with evidence of “posterior extravasation”

· 3/13/97 CT scan, facet degenerative change noted

We found no other reports in the record of the condition of the L3-4 intervertebral disc from 1997 to 2005.  The February 1997 discogram noted that injection of the L3-4 disc with test media did not cause pain symptoms, while injection at L4-5 and L5-S1 did cause pain.

By September 1997 the employee’s orthopedic surgeon Dr. Paul Schwaegler was able to report to the employee’s former long-term pain management physician Dr. Rayburn Lewis that, five months after the anterior fusion/cage implantation procedure, “he has no pain to speak of, is absolutely ecstatic about his result today, and is on no pain medication whatsoever.”
  The employee continued to be prescribed massage therapy as of 1999, but the record reflects no medical treatment related to the lumbar spine from March 1999 through June 2005.

B.  Summary of employee’s work history, 1998 to 2005:

The employee reported working primarily as an over-the-road truck driver from 1998-2005, primarily in Washington state,
 with some work as operator of backhoes and other heavy equipment, until he returned with his wife in February 2005 to Ketchikan, Alaska to be near his mother and other family.
  The employee worked as a log truck driver in 2005 on the road system in Ketchikan.
  According to the employee, he was basically symptom-free as to low back pain, with use only of Advil, until June 1, 2005.
  The employee testified that he performed all this truck-driving and heavy equipment operator work without pain or complications to his fused back.
  

C.  Descriptions of the dump-truck roll-over on June 1, 2005:

The employee was the only witness who testified with direct, percipient knowledge of the roll-over event and its immediate aftermath.  The employee was hired on to work as a dump truck driver on a logging operation at Thorne Bay on Prince of Wales Island for Durette Construction Company, Inc.
  His first day on the job was May 31, 2005.  The employee reported injury on the next day, June 1, 2005.  On the Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) dated


June 1, 2005, the employee in his own handwriting described the incident: 

while turning truck, had sharp pain in low back & hip, in so much pain could not pick up my right leg to push break [sic], then ended up in ditch do [sic] to


lose [sic] of control

This report indicated the injury occurred three hours into the work day.

At deposition the employee testified that he had the onset of extreme pain, traveling down his right leg, while he “was making a right-hand turn,”
 as he was turning the steering wheel.
  The employee estimated his speed variously at 3-5 mph,
 less than 5 mph,
 and at hearing “under 10 mph.”
  The employee testified that he was slowing the vehicle down to watch for oncoming truck traffic returning empty from the dump site to the rock borrow site.
 

The employee testified that he did not recall whether the truck had power steering, but “if it did, it didn’t feel like it,”
 and  “if it was [power steering], I can’t remember.”
  At hearing, the employee testified the power steering on the vehicle was not working.
  The employee testified the vehicle was harder to turn at slow speeds, especially when fully loaded.
  At deposition and hearing, the employee testified that the truck’s air suspension seat was broken and the seat was bolted down to the cab.
  The employee testified that the dump truck bottomed out more frequently on the rough road when fully loaded.
  The employee testified that he had performed approximately 30 round trips (60 negotiations of the turn) prior to the roll-over episode,
 that the road was newly constructed, unpaved, unfilled and rough,
 and that the Mack truck was “rough-riding.”
  

The employee testified that he let go of the wheel in reaction to the pain in his back and right leg,
 and the truck proceeded into a ditch off the road, where the left wheels sank into muskeg and mud, while the right-side wheels remained on solid roadway.
  This caused the 14-cu. yard capacity dump truck, fully loaded with 50 tons of shot rock,
 to tip onto its left side.  The overturning occurred slowly enough that there was no damage reported to the dump truck, not even a bent side mirror
 (although the trooper’s report stated unspecified “minor damage”).
  The employee testified that he feared a stump, rock or other projection might enter through the driver’s side window, and that he twisted to the right and grabbed the passenger seat.
 

The employee testified that his right leg and back was a “10 out of 10” level of pain throughout this episode,
 and that he did not clearly recall exiting the truck, and that “adrenaline” took over.   The employee, restrained with a lap belt, released himself, exited from the cab of the laid-over truck via the passenger side window, and got to the roadway.
  

The employee could not recall whether he climbed down from the truck, or jumped down.
  The employee estimated the truck’s width (and therefore the height from the passenger doorway to the roadway) at 8.5 feet, although he also estimated that with the canting of the truck at an angle and the angle of the roadway, the distance from the high point of the passenger side of the truck to the roadway may have been as much as 12 feet.
  The employee testified that he hurt more when he hit the ground, and that he fell on the edge of the roadway.
  The employee testified that he was “on the ground.  And I was flopping around on the road like a – grabbing my side, until the guys, you know, came up to me.”
  

The State trooper’s report of the incident was admitted as Employer’s Exhibit A, pages 2-3.  The trooper’s drawing of the vehicle’s path and point of rest shows the dump truck heading roughly southeast, on the eastern edge of the southbound lane of a road, having gone off the road after initiating a right-hand turn.
   The report recites that photographs were taken,
 but none were submitted into evidence here.  In the narrative of the trooper’s report, it is recited:

Vehicle 1 [a Mack dump truck] was attempting to turn south on the [US Forest Service Road] 3012 road when Driver 1 [the employee] had a back spasm and lost control of the vehicle.  Vehicle 1 left the roadway and overturned in the ditch.  The vehicle sustained only minor damage.  Driver 1 was wearing a seat belt.
  Driver 1 sustained no injuries in the wreck, but was transported by ambulance to the Klawock Clinic for back pain.

The type of seat belt identified was a lap belt.
  The report did not identify steering as a cause of the event.
  The employee testified that he did not recall talking to the trooper.

D.  Summary of medical treatment on and after June 1, 2005:

The employee was transported via road ambulance
 to the SEARHC
 clinic in Klawock, where


it is reported that PA-C Ken Chastek administered 50 mg. of fentanyl via IV push, and 50 mg IM, as well as 25 mg of phenergan.  The employee was noted to have “fairly well localized right lumbar paraspinous tenderness to palpation and actute hypertonus
 in the lumbar region throughout.  Pain does not, however, radiate beyond the right hip and buttock area.”  The note is unclear whether this report of exam was performed by PA Chastek, or the PA who came later and completed the report, or whether the exam was performed before or after the administration of fentanyl.  It is recited that x-rays were taken (“thoracolumbar and sacral spine, PA and lateral, and AP pelvis”), with no fractures or bony abnormalities noted.  The reports (if any) of the


x-rays are not included in our file.  It is not clear from this record whether flexion/extension x-rays of the lumbar spine were taken or reviewed.
  The discharge diagnosis was contusion to right low back with muscle spasm.  A total of 100 mg. of fentanyl was administered at the clinic.  Vicodin and Flexeril were prescribed, with release from work with instruction of no lifting or prolonged sitting or standing, with release from work for 4-7 days.

The employee did not return to the SEARHC clinic in Klawock, however.  Instead, he was transported by motor vehicle from Klawock to Thorne Bay, and was flown via small plane from Thorne Bay to return to Ketchikan,
 where he was evaluated on June 8, 2005 by Noble Anderson, MD of the Ketchikan Medical Center Family Practice Clinic.  Dr. Noble recites that the employee took the Vicodin and Flexeril, “at which time his back pain seemed to resolve almost completely.  Today, he only has a dull ache slightly on the right low lumbar region,” and noted the employee had stopped taking these medications “several days ago.”  After reciting the employee’s surgical history, Dr. Anderson on examination notes “nontender to palpation. . . . He has full range of motion with his back, able to touch his toes with his knees straight.  Negative straight leg raise.”  Deep tendon reflexes, lower extremity strength and sensation were all found to be normal.  The chart note by Dr. Noble does not recite whether he obtained or reviewed any x-rays, flexion/extension or otherwise.  Dr. Anderson concluded: “His current employment will not allow him to return to work unless they are reassured that this will not occur again, as he is apparently a risk driving this dump truck.  Fortunately, he was not injured in his accident.  We’ll obtain a lumber MRI to evaluate for nerve compression or other irregularities.”

Dr. Anderson opined that the employee was medically stable at that time, while also noting the plan to obtain MRI and referral for orthopedic evaluation.  As to work-relatedness of condition, Dr. Anderson stated “this is possibly secondary to his previous back surgeries/back pain – however, he has been well for 9 years.”  Dr. Anderson released the employee to his work for the employer as a commercial truck driver with the restriction of “no driving.”  Dr. Anderson also referred the employee to an orthopedist.

MRI was performed in Ketchikan on June 8, 2005, the report noting:

· moderate central canal stenosis and bilateral foraminal narrowing at the L3-4 level due to degenerative facet hypertrophy and annular disc bulging

· discogenic edema in the endplate surrounding the L3-4 disc

· small annular tear at the L3-4 disc level

· post-surgical changes at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels

· “fairly extensive” bilateral facet degenerative changes at L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1

The June 8, 2005 MRI is reported to have used T1 and T2-weighted images in both the sagittal and axial planes, from L3 to S1.

The employee was seen on June 16, 2005 by orthopedist Alan W. Wolf, MD in Ketchikan, who recited that the employee had stopped taking Vicodin and Flexeril, but reported continuing burning feeling in his right sacroiliac (SI) joint, unimproved since the accident, with tenderness to palpation that was described as “specific, focal, well localized.”  The doctor’s examination of the employee was otherwise unremarkable.  The MRI results showing annular tear with disc bulge at L3-4 were noted, as well as the degenerative facet hypertrophy and moderate canal stenosis at that level.  Dr. Wolf administered a steroid injection at the right SI joint, with report of “75% pain relief.”  Dr. Wolf released the employee from work for 1-2 weeks.  The doctor noted that the employee “graciously declined” pain medications at that time.
 

The employee returned to Dr. Anderson, who noted the employee’s persisting low back pain, unresponsive to 600 mg of ibuprofen and Flexeril.  Dr. Anderson opined low back pain secondary to a “recent disk bulge and now nerve irritation causing sciatic type symptoms.”


Dr. Anderson prescribed a different NSAID,
 Indomethacin, and directed the employee to follow up with Dr. Wolf.

Dr. Wolf on July 12, 2005 noted the continued “right SI joint discomfort,” diagnosed a lumbosacral spine strain “superimposed over prior surgeries and with a positive MRI as noted at his previous visit,” recommended an epidural steroid injection, and continued the employee’s release from work until August 1, 2005.
  The employee underwent the epidural steroid injection at L3-4 on July 13, 2005, with the diagnosis of herniated nucleus pulposus and spinal stenosis at L3-4 at that time.
  On re-exam by Dr. Wolf on August 4, 2005, the employee was “no better.”  Dr. Wolf referred the employee to a spine surgeon in Seattle, and renewed the Vicodin.

The employee was seen by PA-C Jeffery Fernandez and orthopedic surgeon Paul Schwaegler, MD, of Orthpaedics International, Ltd. of Seattle, on September 16, 2005.  As Dr. Schwaegler testified during his deposition, it is the practice of his office for the PA to take an oral history and examine the patient, then the surgeon reviews the history with the PA and later the patient.
  The note recites “Dr. Schwaegler was in on today’s visit,” and Dr. Schwaegler signed the note of this September 16, 2005 visit.  

The September 16, 2005 chart note recites that the employee reported 

he was completely asymptomatic until he was involved in a motor vehicle accident while at work, when he was driving a dump truck with a full load that ended up rolling over on its side.  He immediately developed pain in the mid to lower lumbar spine area that radiated down to his bilateral posterior lower extremities, as well as pain into the bilateral groin.

The exam noted pain and spasm to palpation of paravertebral lumbar muscles, and x-ray exam (including lateral flexion/extension views) showing “disc height narrowing” and “increased angular motion” at L3-4.  The doctor recites review of the June 9, 2005 MRI films, noting “severe desiccation” at the L3-4 disc with collapse, a broad-based disc bulge and an associated HIZ (high-intensity zone) “consistent with annular tear.”  The note described mild/severe bilateral facet arthrosis/hypertrophy with fluid signs present, with combined effects resulting in severe central canal and bilateral L3 foraminal stenosis.  Dr. Schwaegler opines: “symptomatology secondary to the severe breakdown of his L3-4 transitional disc . . . as a direct result of his motor vehicle accident of claim.”  Dr. Schwaegler recommended anterior/posterior fusion and decompression at L3-4, preceded by discogram.

During the employer’s independent medical examination (EIME) conducted on December 9, 2005, the employee reported that in injured his right shoulder with a fall “secondary to the give-way weakness” in lower extremities.  The EIME physicians did not report evaluation of the right shoulder at that time.

The employee reported to Dr. Wolf in Ketchikan a slip and fall, which he reported as related to his back pain, causing injury to the right shoulder on December 12, 2005.  Low back pain was reported to be the same.  Dr. Wolf opined the right shoulder problem also to be work-related.  Dr. Wolf opined the employee “needs spine surgical evaluation and treatment,” and renewed oxycodone rather than Percocet, to allow reduction in the employee’s use of acetaminophen.


Dr. Wolf noted “he has strong objective evidence to substantiate subjective complaints of pain.”
  

Gadolinium-enhanced MRI performed on February 3, 2006 of the right shoulder revealed tears of the rotator cuff and related tendons, with inflammation.
  Dr. Wolf recommended arthroscopic repair,
 which was ultimately performed on May 18, 2006.
  Physical therapy was started.
  Our last record on the right shoulder that we could find in this record is Dr. Wolf’s chart note of August 24, 2006, noting some residual limitations in sensation of the right fingers and small digit clawing, with 137º rotation of the right shoulder as compared with 180º on the left, with “excellent” push-pull strength bilaterally, without atrophy or malalignment of the right upper extremity.  Dr. Wolf recommended continued therapy “at home or with the therapist” to try to achieve greater range of motion in the right shoulder.

As to the lumbar spine condition, the employee underwent MRI of the lumbar and thoracic spine on March 9, 2006 in Seattle.  The technique used appears to be the same as the earlier June 2005 MRIs taken in Ketchikan, except that the reports recite “angled axial images.”  No spondylolisthesis was noted at that time.  At L3-4, moderate desiccation and circumferential bulge was noted, with moderate bilateral facet arthropathy, moderate bilateral neural foraminal narrowing, a central annular tear, with combination of conditions to result in bilateral lateral recess stenosis (more severe on the right) with impingement of the right L4 nerve root and possible impingement of the left L4 nerve root in the lateral recess.
  The thoracic MRI noted moderate right facet arthropathy with mild narrowing of the lateral posterior thoracic canal, without clear nerve root impingement, at T9-10, and mild left facet arthropathy at T10-11, and evidence of hemangioma or lipoma in the T10 vertebral body.  All other thoracic vertebrae and spaces were normal.

The employee was also x-rayed on March 9, 2006 by Dr. Schwaegler and PA-C Fernandez  Although the reports of x-ray are not in our record, the results are described as showing, on lateral flexion/extension view, “increased translation motion” of 4-6 mm in flexion, as compared with 1-2 mm of anterolisthesis seen in September 2005.  On review of the MRI results of


March 9, 2006, evidence of worsening breakdown of the L3-4 segment is reported.  The L2-3 disc and above is found “well-hydrated and healthy” with good disc space.  Physical exam noted 10-15º forward flexion, new weakness in right quadriceps, weakened patellar reflex, and report of repeated falls due to right leg give-way and weakness.  The plan remains fusion and decompression at L3-4, with oxycontin in the interim.  On the reports of right rotator cuff tear, the employee was referred to shoulder specialist Dr. Pritchett within the group’s practice, though we have no record of results of this referral.
 

The employee was evaluated on August 9, 2006 by Gordon R. Bozarth, MD, orthopedist of Juneau, Alaska.  Dr. Bozarth noted the employee’s history, right antalgic gait, tenderness to palpation over paravertebral muscles and spinous processes from L2-L4, with decreased sensation over the right lateral foot and lateral calf.  Dr. Bozarth reviewed x-rays taken that day showing a 2-3 mm anterolisthesis of L3 on to L4, which “appears fixed in flexion-extension views.”  Dr. Bozarth also reviewed the 3/9/06 MRIs from Dr. Schwaegler’s office, agreeing with the view that those showed L3-4 degenerative disc disease with a high intensity zone over the annulus, with “focal high grade stenosis” at L3-4.  Dr. Bozarth agreed with Dr. Schwaegler’s recommendation of L3-4 fusion and decompression, recommending Dr. Schwaegler perform the surgery given his familiarity with the patient, and recommended continued pain management through Dr. Wolf in Ketchikan.

Dr. Wolf continued to endorse Dr. Schwaegler’s plan for treatment of the lumbar spine, opining at the end of September 2006 (after the shoulder surgery and post-operative progress) that the employee “is 70% plus disabled.”
  In November 2006, Dr. Schwaegler and PA Fernandez, in response to the EIME report of Drs. Provencher and Vincent (discussed below), disagreed with their conclusion of the employee’s exaggeration of pain symptoms and the absence of objective findings, and disagreed with their conclusion that the employee’s condition was not the result of the June 1, 2005 roll-over event, noting the employee’s complete asymptomatic status prior to the accident, as well as listing “objective signs of this ongoing back and new right shoulder condition”:

· Severely guarded ambulation

· Restricted lumbar range of motion in all planes

· Positive straight leg raises bilaterally at 60º with reproduction of low back and posterior thigh pain

· Diminished heel/toe walking

· Right leg weakness

· Increased instability at L3-4 demonstrated on lateral flexion/extension x-rays

· Results of 3/9/06 lumbar MRI showing evidence of severe breakdown of the L3-4 segment

· Clinical exam by J. Britchett, MD with imaging studies showing right rotator cuff tear with impingement

The employee testified that both Dr. Wolf and Dr. Schwaegler have told him that the combination of the condition of the seat and bouncing on the rough road triggered the pain he experienced while turning the truck.

E.  Procedural History:

The employer initially accepted compensability of the reported injury, and began paying temporary total disability (TTD) and medical benefits.
  A panel EIME was conducted on December 9, 2005 by Ronald Vincent, MD and Matthew Provencher, MD; their report is described below in the summary of expert medical evidence.  The employer’s counsel entered her appearance and noticed the employee’s deposition in February 2006.

The employee filed his Workers’ Compensation Claim (WCC) dated March 15, 2006, asserting the employer has resisted the employee’s claim for benefits, had scheduled a deposition and had refused to accept a shoulder injury, and sought “continuing” TTD from March 22, 2006 and continuing, past and future but unspecified medical expenses, unspecified medically-related transportation expenses, permanent partial impairment (PPI), interest, and attorneys fees and costs.
 

After receiving Dr. Vincent’s March 17, 2006 follow-up responses to the employer’s counsel, the employer filed its Controversion Notice dated March 29, 2006, admitting at most a “lumbar strain,” asserting that the lumbar strain had by then resolved, controverting compensability of benefits related to the “need for surgery” and benefits related to a shoulder injury from a slip and fall.

The employee filed his Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH) on December 18, 2006,
 which was opposed by the employer.
  The parties agreed by January 25, 2007 on an SIME.
  On January 29, 2007, the employer filed its notice of potential Second Injury Fund claim, stating “[the employee’s] injury of 6/1/2005 aggravated his previous back injury,” admitting the employer was aware of the pre-existing back condition, and stated “[d]ue to the severity of the initial injury resulting in a L4-5-S1 fusion the 6/1/2005 injury created a compensable condition greater than the occupational injury alone,” and that the employer became aware of these facts on September 16, 2005.

The employer had previously filed and served on March 16, 2006 a medical summary containing a 1993 report of a panel EIME of the employee, in which Charles N. Brooks, MD.
  This report was included in the binder of medical records transmitted to the board for supplying to the SIME physician in February 2007.
  The board’s designee assigned the matter to


Dr. Brooks for an SIME, of which the parties received notice on March 1, 2007.
  In her letter to Dr. Brooks, the board’s designee stated:

It is important that the SIME is truly independent, and that neither you nor anyone with whom you practice, now or in the past, have treated or examined Mr. Ellen.  It is also important for the parties to know if you have performed any evaluations on behalf of the employer during the previous 12 months.  Therefore, before acting on this SIME, please review your records to make sure there is no conflict of interest or any reason why you should not perform the SIME.  If you find any association between you, your partners, and this case, or the parties to this case, or believe there is any conflict of interest that would affect your independence, please contact me before preparing for this SIME.

Dr. Brooks issued his SIME report dated March 9, 2007, acknowledging that he had noticed the 1993 panel EIME report only upon detailed examination of the SIME medical records, after having already interviewed and physically examined the employee on March 9, 2007.


Dr. Brooks stated that he did not feel the examination and report done 14 years earlier created a conflict of interest, noting that he was not the “lead” author on the 1993 panel EIME report.

The employee’s counsel posed follow-up questions to SIME physician Dr. Brooks, for which a reply was provided on April 19, 2007.

At a July 2007 pre-hearing conference, the employee through counsel stipulated to the admission of the Brooks SIME report and addendum, but argued that Dr. Brooks should have disclosed the prior evaluation to the board’s designee before proceeding with the SIME, and therefore the board should not grant Dr. Brooks’ report or opinions great weight.
  At this same July 2007 pre-hearing conference, the employer raised as partial affirmative defenses offset for monies received by the employee from the Social Security Administration.
 

After these proceedings had occurred, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Commission issued its decision in Olafson v. State of Alaska.
  After further proceedings not relevant to the decision before the panel, the matter was set for hearing on October 16, 2007,
 later stipulated by the parties for continuance to May 13, 2008, on the following issues: TTD from March 22, 2006 and continuing; past and future medical benefits; determination of medical stability for work-related injury; PPI, when rated; interest; attorneys fees and costs; employer’s entitlement to Social Security offset.
  

F.  Summary of testimony:

Nine witnesses testified in this case, either at the hearing before the board panel, or by deposition.  We have summarized Jerry Ellen’s testimony as to his description of the pre-event medical history, the description of the roll-over event, and the medical history after June 1, 2005.  Additional testimony by Mr. Ellen is summarized below.  We then summarize the other lay witness testimony of Cornelia Ellen (the employee’s wife), David Wiley (the employee’s nephew), Robert R. ‘Butch’ Durette, Sr. (one of the owners of the employer), and Pamla Scott (an adjuster for the insurer).  Then we summarize the medical expert testimony (treating physician Paul Schwaegler, M.D.; employer’s physician Ronald Vincent, M.D.; and SIME physician Charles N. Brooks, M.D.); and finally the employer’s accident reconstruction expert, Jay Smith, B.E., P.E. 



1.  Lay testimony:

a. Jerry Ellen:
Mr. Ellen testified that the final surgery in April 1997 “worked,” that he finally became pain-free and was able to return to work as a truck driver.  As evidence of the employee’s work history after the back surgeries in the 1990s, Mr. Ellen’s and his wife’s joint tax returns were admitted into evidence, showing earnings from 1998 to 2004 ranging from $19,213 to $50,937.  In 2005, earnings dropped to $17,494, and $3,630 in 2006.  Mr. Ellen testified that he moved to Ketchikan in April 2005, and took a job with Evergreen Timber hauling logs on the road system in Ketchikan.  He described wrapping the logs with steel cables, using a “cheater bar” as a lever to cinch down the load tightly.  Mr. Ellen testified that he had no problems performing this work, but the job ended when Evergreen Timber shut down logging operations.  Mr. Ellen testified he was called by Durette Construction and invited to work for them as a truck driver.  The balance of Mr. Ellen’s testimony has been summarized above. 

b. Cornelia Ellen:
Ms. Ellen testified that she has been married to Mr. Ellen for 20 years, and lived with him through the back surgeries in the 1990s.  She described that, prior to the June 1, 2005 work event, Mr. Ellen was “off all medications,” could do “everything he used to do,” including full time work.
  Ms. Ellen described observing the employee fall 2 or 3 times since June 1, 2005 when his “leg fell out from under him, goes numb.”  Ms. Ellen testified that the employee told her of “several” other times he has fallen not in her presence.  Ms. Ellen testified that the employee “pays for it the next few days” if the employee engages in activity beyond his limitations.  She testified the employee is currently on methadone, trazadone, a sleeping medication, and an anti-depressant medication.

c. David Wiley:
David Wiley testified telephonically, and identified himself as Jerry Ellen’s nephew, whom he has known all his life.  Mr. Wiley testified that before the June 1, 2005 event, the employee and he would go fishing, hiking and hunting together, and get his own firewood, but since the June 1, 2005 event, the employee cannot perform these activities.
  Mr. Wiley testified that the employee cannot sit in a boat to fish, and must rely on others to get his firewood for him.



Mr. Wiley testified that he has observed the employee’s symptoms worsen over time.



Mr. Wiley testified that Mr. Ellen performs some child care for his young children, without compensation, on a temporary basis until Mr. Wiley and his wife can arrange other child care.
  Mr. Wiley testified that in October 2005, when surveillance videotapes were taken showing the employee assisting one of his children into the cab of his pickup,
 Mr. Wiley estimated his son Bailey being approximately 4 years old  and weighing approximately 20 lbs., and that because of a digestive condition Bailey is “small for his age.”
 

d. Robert R. “Butch” Durrette, Sr.:
Robert R. “Butch” Durette, Sr. testified telephonically.  Mr. Durette described the employee as driving truck “number 4” of the fleet, a 1995 Mack 890 dump truck, 8.5 feet wide, approved for highway and “off highway” use.
   Mr. Durette described the scene of the roll-over, that when he came to the scene the truck was tipped over on its left side in a muskeg ditch.
  Mr. Durette testified that there was no damage to the truck: no dents, scratches or damage to the side-view mirror.
  Mr. Durette authenticated an inspection report of the truck performed on June 15, 2005, after the event, as being performed by the mechanic Chad Boyer.
  Mr. Durette admitted that a “minor repair” to the truck would not be reflected on the vehicle inspection report.
  Mr. Durette testified that he himself did not call an ambulance for the employee, but that someone else did, and that “he was in pain.”

e. Pamla Scott:
Ms. Scott was called to testify as to the benefits paid to the employee up until the employer’s controversion.  Ms. Scott testified the employee was paid time loss benefits of $23,619.96 from June 2, 2005 to March 22, 2006, and that the employer paid $22,415.52 in medical benefits during the same time period.  Ms. Scott explained her calculation of a weekly compensation rate of $562.38 using the Division of Workers’ Compensation tables for married worker with three dependents.
  Ms. Scott testified the controversion was based on the reports of Dr. Vincent and Provencher, most especially the Vincent addendum report dated March 17, 2006.
  Ms. Scott was also going to be asked questions about interchanges during a mediation session, but the employer withdrew the claim for offset without prejudice to the claim being re-asserted if the employee’s claim was found compensable, and so Ms. Scott was not asked questions about the mediation.  The employee did not object to the employer’s withdrawal of the issue without prejudice.


2.  Medical expert opinions:

f. Treating orthopedist Paul E. Schwaegler MD
Paul E. Schwaegler, MD of Seattle, WA testified by deposition.
  Dr. Schwaegler treated the employee over a course of 8 years from 1991
 to 1999,
 having performed fusions of the employee’s spine from L4 to S1; Dr. Schwaegler’s treatment notes are summarized above.
  Dr. Schwaegler testified that the employee’s primary symptoms, on presentation after the June 1, 2005 event, were unrelenting back pain with radiation into the groin, and pins and needles sensation (parasthesias) down the backs of the legs, which began after the June 1, 2005 event.
  Dr. Schwaegler described his understanding of the June 1, 2005 event, including driving a dump truck on a rough road, at a slow speed,
 while turning the vehicle to the right the employee lost control of the vehicle, the truck went across the turn and into a ditch, and rolled on its left side.


Dr. Schwaegler used the term “crashed” to describe the event.
  Dr. Schwaegler expressed the opinion that the employee experienced pain while turning the vehicle due to bouncing of the vehicle that stimulated pain in the spine.
  Dr. Schwaegler gave his opinion that the roll-over event caused the employee’s current symptoms and need for surgery.
  Dr. Schwaegler opined that given the long term treatment of the employee for the L4-5 and L5-S1herniated discs, and the pathology seen on studies of his back, the employee presented a condition that would cause pain, and the doctor had no reason to doubt the validity of his presentation of symptoms.

Dr. Schwaegler testified that the transient pain (“that would come and go”) of motion in at the L3-4 joint caused by the bouncing of the truck would likely have resolved without further symptoms,
 but that the roll-over caused “a further, much greater trauma” causing a “permanent worsening” of the L3-4 joint segment that now needs surgery to correct.



Dr. Schwaegler testified that he disagreed with reports (attributed to the employee) at the time of the event and immediately afterward that the employee had sustained no injury during the roll-over.
  Dr. Schwaegler gave the opinion that the stress of the accident resulted in greater instability in the L3-4 segment, “more than his muscle system could manage.”
  While conceding that the employee’s L3-4 segment showed signs of deterioration before the accident,
 including desiccation that likely would have been noted if an MRI had been taken immediately before the accident, 
 Dr. Schwaegler gave the opinion that the trauma of the June 1, 2005 event “caused an acceleration of the deterioration” of the L3-4 disc, noting a “big change” between the June 8, 2005 post-accident MRI, and MRI taken in 2006.



Dr. Schwaegler also testified that the delay in surgery to stabilize the L3-4 motion segment has contributed to the accelerated deterioration of the L3-4 disc.
  Dr. Schwaegler had reviewed both the EIME report of Drs. Vincent and Provencher
 (their report is summarized below), and Dr. Brooks’ supplemental letter responding to some questions by the employee’s attorney.

g. EIMEs Ronald Vincent MD, neurosurgeon and Matthew Provencher MD, orthopedist
Ronald Vincent, MD, a neurosurgeon, and Matthew Provencher, MD, an orthopedist, examined the employee and his medical records in Seattle on December 9, 2005.  The employee was noted to be in a significant amount of pain, with significant gait abnormality, with a crouched and hunched back.  Limitation in range of motion of the spine is noted, with tenderness around the paralumbar muscles, greater on the left.  Deep tendon reflex at the left knee was weaker.  Diminution of cold sensation was noted on the left foot and anterior thigh, with decreased sensation to pinprick on the anterior thighs, more on the right than left.  Hypalgesia was reported involving the dermatomes of T10-11 on the right side.  The employee also reported pain going into his groin, including his genitalia.

The doctors agreed that the imaging studies available at that time (x-rays, an MRI performed June 8, 2005) showed degenerative changes at L3-4 including spondylolisthesis, an annular tear, stenosis, and discogenic edema.  They felt there was evidence of pseudoarthrosis at L5-S1, noting some motion in the vicinity of one of the cages.  They felt the June 8, 2005 MRI alone was insufficient to make a decision on further fusion at L3-4, and that contrast-enhanced MRI was necessary to rule out epidural scarring as the source of some of the employee’s symptoms.
  They opined that the lumbar straining injury diagnosis of PA-C Welser on June 1, 2008 was “unrelated to the injury of record [the original L4-5 and L5-S1 disc ruptures and subsequent surgeries to fuse those segments] on a more-probable-than-not basis.”  They opined that the employee showed 

[m]arked pain behavior, exaggeration of symptoms, with no objective findings to support his complaints.  The findings present are non-neuroanatomical and non-neurophysiological and nondermatomal.  For instance, it would take a condition in the lower thoracic area, that is, at least the T9-10 levels, to result in these findings.

On the question of causation of the employee’s then-current symptoms, the doctors opined:

In regards to causation, we certainly feel on a more-probable-than-not basis there was some event that occurred, whether it was a spontaneous occurrence while operating his vehicle, that is, in the course of his employment, or it was a condition where he lost control of his vehicle and rolled it over.  Nevertheless, certainly compatible with some sort of lumbar strain.  Beyond that, it is unclear causality-wise.  He certainly could have a lower thoracic disc herniation that would explain his condition perhaps a little better.  Although more importantly, he has significant pain behavior and symptom magnification conditions which are not related to his injury of record, but are a product of his personality and response to pain.

The doctors expressed the opinion that there was no aggravation of the employee’s pre-existing condition, instead “primarily a straining injury,” that was “complicated by his disability conviction with his nonorganic findings,” but could not rule out a thoracic disc herniation as a potential cause of the employee’s complaints.  They could not rule out work activities as a cause of the employee’s condition, stating “[c]ertainly his work activities could have caused this problem as this is not a progression of the spondylosis in his spine.”  On the question of further medical treatment, the doctors repeated their recommendation for enhanced MRI of the lumbar region, as well as a thoracic MRI.
  Based on their view of the employee’s “disability conviction,” they rated the employee “an extremely poor candidate for surgery at this time.”

After additional thoracic and lumbar MRI studies performed on March 9, 2006,
 Dr. Vincent was provided with the reports of these MRIs, along with a series of “check-the-box” questions from the employer’s counsel, to which he responded on March 17, 2006.
  Based on the MRI reports, Dr. Vincent opined that the MRI reports revealed no thoracic disc or compressive lesion that would have caused a paralyzed leg, but Dr. Vincent could not rule out a back spasm as a cause of the employee’s loss of control of the vehicle.
  The doctor checked a box that summarized his view that he could not rule out a lumbar strain resulting from the roll-over; that he found lack of objective signs of such a strain; and that in the absence of objective signs, any strain had resolved by December 9, 2005.  Dr. Vincent also checked a box indicated he believed any lumbar strain did not aggravate “the underlying condition” and that “more likely than not this was a temporary aggravation,” resolved by December 9, 2005.  Dr. Vincent checked a box concluding that additional testing was needed “to see whether he truly has a herniation at the L3-4 level, as opposed to something such as scarring.”  Dr. Vincent checked the box opining that any surgery needed is unrelated to workplace injury “unless there is a thoracic herniation.”  In response to the question of whether the doctor saw “many signs of malingering and symptom magnification,” the doctor disagreed and wrote: “I found evidence of symptom magnification few if any objective findings; the findings present were non-neuroanatomical, non-neurophysiological & non-dermatom[al].  I could not R/O [rule out] malingering.”

Dr. Vincent also testified by deposition.
  Dr. Vincent is board certified in neurosurgery, retired from active practice in 1999.
  Dr. Vincent’s testimony was generally consistent with the report he co-authored with Dr. Provencher, and his March 17, 2007 addendum.  Dr. Vincent testified that MRIs of the lumbar spine, after the employee’s back surgeries in the 1990s, were not definitive due to the presence of scar tissue, and that enhanced MRIs with the injection of gadolinium were required to distinguish scar tissue and other injured tissues.
  Dr. Vincent testified that the employee’s complaints of pain in the thoracic and scrotal area were not explained by injury to the L3-4 joint space.
  Dr. Vincent testified that numbness found on examination in the lower parathoracic region led him to suggest the MRI of the thoracic spine.
  Dr. Vincent testified that “stocking hypalgesia” of the right leg, found on his examination, would have required an injury at T11-12.
  Dr. Vincent testified that after the follow-up MRI of the thoracic region, which indicated “a bit of spondylosis, degenerative disk and joint disease at the lower thoracic area,” that the employee’s pain and other symptoms “could be arising from there.”
  Dr. Vincent testified that the annular tear shown on MRI “can occur with a lumbar strain,” but that an annular tear can also occur with degenerative disk disease as the disk shrinks and the annulus cracks due to the shrinkage.
  

Dr. Vincent testified that he found no evidence of any injury to the spine, that if anything, the employee experienced a strain which has since resolved.  Dr. Vincent testified he found “no mechanism of injury for that.”
  Dr. Vincent testified that “we could not really have a finding that would support any particulary ongoing problems at that level. . . . At L3-4.”
  However, Dr. Vincent testified that the truck roll-over could have caused an injury to the employee’s back,
 and that he could not rule out the roll-over as the causing of the collapse of the L3-4 transitional segment.

Dr. Vincent testified that he did not believe the back condition would not have developed as it did, when it did, but for the employment; that is, stated in the positive, more likely than not the employee would have developed the same problems even if he had never worked for the employer.
  Dr. Vincent testified that a reasonable person would not attribute the employee’s back condition to the employment, stating affirmatively, “his back condition is due to his pre-existing conditions at L3-4.”

Dr. Vincent testified, that, in his opinion, the work activities did not result in a permanent worsening of the underlying condition,
 and that any aggravation of the pre-existing condition was temporary and would be fully resolved within 90 days of the June 1, 2005 incident.
  Dr. Vincent testified that in his opinion the employee could return to truck driving.

Dr. Vincent testified on cross-examination
 that the onset of pain can be immobilizing for a few seconds.
  Dr. Vincent testified that a sudden pain could be caused by a torn annulus of a disk.
  Dr. Vincent disagreed that the employee was more vulnerable to injury than one who had no back surgery.
  Dr. Vincent then testified that he did not feel the pre-existing back condition played any role in the roll-over event.
  Dr. Vincent testified that the employee experienced only a temporary event, and no permanent aggravation, and that “. . . he had no findings to support he had any ongoing complaints that could be identified on my examination to confirm his complaints.”
  Dr. Vincent re-iterated this view that the employee had no findings supporting need for further back surgery:

What I’ve said before, he is not, you can’t, I do not feel that exaggerated pain symptoms in someone who obviously has a disability conviction which, again, is not related to the injury of record, is a product of his personality and his own response to pain does not qualify him to be eligible for a recommendation for surgery, not with the findings I had on the examination.

Dr. Vincent opined that the primary indicator for the employee’s need for surgery is his pain symptomology, and this is evidence of the employee’s “disability conviction with his exaggerated symptoms are certainly worse now than before, but certainly not any relationship to the injury of record.  It is a product of his personality, his response to pain.”

Dr. Vincent opined that “there is no objective evidence to support that he has any ongoing back condition other than the question of the 2006 MRI that I don’t know whether he has stenosis about, but just because of pain, there is no indication as far as I’m concerned that the fall was anything but his symptom embellishment and his disability conviction, again, not related to the injury of record.”
  When asked about the shoulder injury, Dr. Vincent responded as follows:

Q.  So. You don’t feel that his right shoulder injury is related to falls caused by his back condition, is that what you’re saying?

A.  That’s right because I’m saying he doesn’t have a back condition.

Dr. Vincent never acknowledged whether there was a gadolinium-enhanced MRI performed in follow-up to his recommendation.
  Dr. Vincent testified that he agreed with the Dr. Brooks’ report regarding “fusion disease,” with the qualification that statistically he believed the L3-4 disc would be the “next in line of deterioration” whether the lower levels had been fused, or not.

h. SIME orthopedist Charles N. Brooks MD

Charles N. Brooks, MD, performed a stipulated, board-ordered SIME on March 9, 2007.  An orthopedic surgeon,
 Dr. Brooks’ recital of medical records reviewed included his own prior EIME report from 1993.
  

After oral history, physical exam, and his chart review, Dr. Brooks diagnosed, for the lumbar spine: (1) degenerative disc disease and degenerative arthritis of the lumbar spine, L3 to S1 due to genetics and aging, with the possible contributing factor of smoking, reported be the employee to be remote in time; (2) low back pain with onset prior to October 8, 1990; (3) L4-5 and L5-S1 disc herniations with subsequent surgeries; (4) lumbar sprain/strain due to fall on December 8, 1991 while working; (5) lumbar sprain/strain due to fall on January 8, 1993; (6) L3-4 disc herniation
 due to degenerative disc disease and acceleration thereof by segmental fusion, and possibly the December 1991 or January 1993 falls, later characterized as a “bulge” with posterior central annular tear on June 9, 2005; (7) L3-4 instability due to progressive degeneration of the L3-4 disc and facet joints, with gradually increasing ligamentous laxity; (8) recurrent right low back/buttock pain while working on June 1, 2005; (9) foraminal stenosis at L3-4 with impingement of on right L4 nerve root, and possible impingement on left L4 nerve root, due to disc bulge and/or facet hypertrophy; (10) possible left foraminal stenosis at L4-5, due to spur formation; and (11) moderate T9-10 and mile left T10-11 degenerative arthritis, due to genetics and aging.  For the right shoulder, Dr. Brooks diagnosed: (12) right shoulder contusion and sprain/strain due to fall in October or December 2005), by history; (13) mild adhesive capsulitis, “probably due to the October or December 2005 fall”; (14) partial tear of supraspinatus tendon, status post surgery, “due to aging and activities, and possibly the October or December 2005 fall; (15) two labral detachments from right glenoid fossa, “one or both probably” due to the October or December 2005 fall, status post surgical repair; (16) grade 2 chondromalacia of the glenoid due to genetics and aging, with possible instability post surgical debridement.

Dr. Brooks attributed none of the diagnoses to the workplace conditions to which the employee was exposed while working for Durette Construction on May 31, 2005 and June 1, 2005.
  


Dr. Brooks concluded that while the employee may have “tweaked” a nerve root or torn the few remaining fibers in the posterior annulus at L3-4 when turning the dump truck, the “effects of either should be relatively short-lived,”
 and that while the overturning and exiting from the over-turned dump truck may have caused an exacerbation of pre-existing low back pain and other symptoms, “probably did not cause permanent worsening (aggravation) of his lumbar spine pathology.”

Dr. Brooks opined that disc herniation at L3-4 was due to the fusion of L4-S1 segments, with “natural progression of his pre-existing lumbar spine pathology,” that the herniation occurred some time prior to December 1996 (due to notation of it on MRI film taken in December 1996), and diminished in size by June 9, 2005 such that it “was characterized only as a bulge.”
  From this, Dr. Brooks concluded “whatever happened while Mr. Ellen was driving the dump truck eight days earlier [than the date of the MRI], on June 1, 2005, probably did not worsen the posterior extension of this disc”
 and probably did not change the rate of degeneration of the employee’s L3-4 segment.

Dr. Brooks concluded that the act of turning the vehicle to the right may have caused the annular tear, and that such tears can cause back pain, but that all he could say with “reasonable medical probability” is that Mr. Ellen reported recurrent pain in his right low back, buttock and hip while turning the vehicle.  Dr. Brooks stated that “[i]t is possible [that] compression of a left anterolateral lumbar disc caused it to be herniated in a right posterolateral direction, accounting for the right lumbalgia with or without sciatica.”  Dr. Brooks referred to the June 9, 2005 MRI report as indicating “only a bulge” at L3-4, concluding that the right posterolateral disc protrusion at L3-4 was not worsened. . . .”

Dr. Brooks concluded that “reasonable people, knowledgeable about fusion disease, would not regard driving the dump truck as a cause of [the employee’s] current status and attach responsibility to it.”  Dr. Brooks opined that the incident of the truck rolling on its left side, with the employee anchored via a lap belt,
 and his subsequent exit from the over turned vehicle,
 did not cause injury to the employee because (1) he reported no injury during history to


Dr. Brooks; (2) the reported low speed of the truck at the time of roll-over, and (3) the low ∆V
 forces of the roll-over.
  Instead, Dr. Brooks ascribed the current symptoms to a combination of genetics, aging the February 15, 1991 occupational injury, and the subsequent 2-level fusion.  Dr. Brooks confirmed his opinion that the employee’s pre-existing injury and fusion surgery caused weaker than normal L3-4 tissues, predisposing the employee to injury.

Dr. Brooks noted the contrary opinion of Juneau orthopedist Dr. Bozarth, who repeated the employee’s report of being asymptomatic prior to June 1, 2005, and symptomatic after the workplace incident.  Dr. Brooks noted that the employee reported using Advil for back pain “occasionally” when examined by PA Welser on June 1, 2005, and noted the medical records indicating back pain antecedent to the February 1991 workplace incident, while the employee “absolutely” denied prior back pain history during an earlier employer-sponsored medical exam performed by Dr. Brooks on October 14, 1993.
  Thus, it is evident Dr. Brooks did not believe the employee’s report of being asymptomatic as to back pain from 1999 to June 1, 2005.
  Dr. Brooks also expressed his disbelief at the mode of the June 1, 2005 incident, expressing the opinion that the employee was driving too fast when he took the turn, relying upon PA-C Welser’s report of right flank, hip and back pain without radiation, thus forming the conclusion that “Mr. Ellen apparently did not have right sciatica at [t]his time” of performing the right turn.
  However, Dr. Brooks opined that the employee “now needs a fusion” at L3-4, agreeing with Drs. Schwaegler, Bozarth and Wolf on this point.

Dr. Brooks opined that no further treatment of the right shoulder is indicated other than strengthening and stretching.
  Dr. Brooks opined that, based on the employee’s history, right leg weakness probably was a substantial factor in the falls, and therefore the shoulder injury, the subsequent adhesive capsulitis, and resultant right shoulder surgery was at least partially caused by the employee’s lumbar pathology.
  

Dr. Brooks opined the employee is not medically stable, given the need for the L3-4 fusion surgery, and did not perform a rating.

Dr. Brooks noted at hearing that “an annular tear does not come with a date stamp on it,” and conceded that the annulus of the L3-4 disc could have torn during the June 1, 2005 incident.
  Dr. Brooks testified that it was not surprising that the employee expressed pain without evidence of other trauma, noting that onset of pain in spinal fusion disease usually occurs gradually and spontaneously, and that precipitating, identifiable trauma is the exception rather than the rule.

Dr. Brooks testified that in forming his conclusions as to exacerbation versus aggravation, he used the terms of the 6th Edition to the AMA Guides, noting that in Alaska the terminology might be a bit different.  Using Alaska terminology, Dr. Brooks opined that the employee had experienced a temporary aggravation, but not a permanent worsening.

Dr. Brooks testified that he did not believe that “but for the employment, the employee’s condition would not have developed when it did, as it did,” stating that the MRIs show a progressive condition, with the possible exception of the annular tear.
  Dr. Brooks opined that a reasonable person, as informed as a reasonable physician, would not believe the workplace conditions to be the cause of the employee’s condition, and that to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the June 1, 2005 episode did not cause the need for an L3-4 fusion, but that the cause was the pre-existing fusion disease.

During cross-examination by Mr. Batchelor, Dr. Brooks disagreed that there was evidence that the employee’s report of pain in his back and radiating down his leg occurred during the act of turning the vehicle, and that he understood the employee had reported the onset of pain prior to initiating the turn.
  Dr. Brooks agreed that there was evidence of spinal instability before the accident, without pain symptoms, and now there is evidence of spinal instability, with pain symptoms; and that the current combination of instability with pain symptoms indicates the need for fusion surgery.
  Dr. Brooks conceded on cross-examination that the “primary factor” in the employee’s current need for surgery is his reports of pain.


2.  Mechanical engineer testimony: Jay Smith, B.S., P.E.
The employer called Jay Smith, B.S., P.E., to testify regarding the forces involved in the June 1, 2005 roll-over incident.  Mr. Smith testified that through his past work as a forensic accident reconstruction expert, he was familiar with big trucks and big truck roll-overs.

Mr. Smith testified that, because of a check in a box on the June 15, 2005 inspection report of the Mack dump truck the employee was driving, that it had power steering.
  Mr. Smith did not have independent information whether the truck had power steering, or whether the power steering was functioning on the day of the incident.
 Mr. Smith testified that, based on his training, experience and knowledge of the modern design of trucks, in his opinion he would not expect an injury to occur due to the simple steering of a vehicle.  Mr. Smith testified that automotive design engineers will design a vehicle so that it is usable by 99% of the population.

On cross-examination, Mr. Smith admitted that the turning forces are greater for a truck traveling at slow speed, and greater when the truck is fully-loaded.  Mr. Smith testified that the turning ratio is greater for trucks, giving the driver a mechanical advantage when turning, with a usual ratio of 30:1 in large trucks versus the usual ratio of 15:1 in passenger cars.  As a result, Mr. Smith testified, a truck’s wheel must be turned a greater number of revolutions to achieve the same degree of turn.
  

On examination by the board, Mr. Smith testified that “truck drivers do not have to be weight lifters,” that the amount of force required to steer a power-steering assisted truck would be the amount that ordinary persons can push and pull, that the forces involved are within the realm of a normal driver.
  Mr. Smith confirmed that a truck like the dump truck the employee was operating, designed to use power steering, would have required greater force to steer, without functioning power steering.
  When asked on re-direct to assume a new, unpaved road, defective seat, and lack of function of power steering in the truck, Mr. Smith had no opinion whether lack of power steering would cause back injury.
  Mr. Smith identified a person at the Western Truck Center in Anchorage who might have been able to help confirm whether the vehicle in question was equipped with power steering, based on the Vehicle Identification Number, but no party sought to call this person as a witness (and no party listed such a person as a witness).

As to the potential for injury during the roll-over event, Mr. Smith testified that in his opinion it was unlikely that an injury occurred then, due to the employee’s description that the onset of pain occurred before the roll-over, the evidence of little or no damage to the rolled-over dump truck, and therefore the low ΔV forces involved.  Mr. Smith estimated the ΔV forces at less than 3 mph.
    Mr. Smith admitted on cross-examination that the side mirrors of the dump truck could have been hinged so that they folded inward rather than breaking. 
 

Mr. Smith testified that he “did not see any mechanism for injury” to the employee’s back from steering or the roll-over of the vehicle.
  Mr. Smith testified that did not know the process for the employee’s exiting the vehicle, and he formed no opinion as to injury on exiting the vehicle.

Mr. Smith produced photographs of different configurations of Mack dump trucks, one of which the employee testified was most like the truck involved here.
  That photograph shows a dump truck with a load box that is wider than the cab of the vehicle, except for the rearview mirrors.
  The employee noted that the truck he drove had a longer box and wheelbase, and “had [a] wider box and more overhang over the cab.”

G.  Evidence regarding Social Security payments
The employer has made a claim for offset for any Social Security payments received by the employee as a result of disability attributed to the workplace event.
  The employee submitted a letter from the employee’s representative before the Social Security Administration that, as of December 6, 2007, the employee’s appeal of denial of application for Social Security benefits was pending, awaiting assignment to an Administrative Law Judge for hearing.
  There is no evidence as to the amount, if any, of any benefits the employee may have received.

H.  Attorneys fees:

The employee’s attorney has submitted two affidavits seeking a total of $41,670.00 for 166.68 hours of work at the rate of $250 per hour, 5% City and Borough of Juneau sales tax of $2,083.50, and $8,898.41 in out-of-pocket expenses.
  Of this amount, a total of 29 hours are listed for time spent preparing for and participating in a mediation in this case.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

An initial evidentiary issue we must decide is the weight to be given to Dr. Brooks’ report, addendum and testimony in light of his earlier EIME of the employee in the Oregon claim.  We then turn to the threshold substantive issue of whether the employee’s claim is compensable against Durette Construction Company.  We next address the employee’s claim for TTD, including determination of medical stability.  We then address the employer’s claim of entitlement to offset for Social Security benefits received by the employee.  Finally, we address the employee’s claim for award of attorneys fees at this juncture of the litigation.

I.  
WEIGHT GIVEN TO AN SIME REPORT AND TESTIMONY BY PHYSICIAN WHO HAD PREVIOUSLY PERFORMED AN EIME OF THE EMPLOYEE

AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, . . ., or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer. The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded. . . . 

8 AAC 45.092 provides, in pertinent part:

(f) . . . .If the parties do not stipulate to a physician . . ., the board or its designee will select a physician. . . . The board or its designee will consider these factors in the following order in selecting the physician: 

* * *

(3) whether the physician or an associate has previously examined or treated the employee; 

* * *

(5) the physician's impartiality; . . . . 

* * *

(i)  . . . Until the parties receive the second independent medical examiner's written report, communications by and with the second independent medical examiner are limited, as follows: 

* * *

(3) the examiner's communications with a physician who has examined, treated, or evaluated the employee must be in writing, and a copy of the written communication must be sent to the board and the parties; the examiner must request the physician report in writing and request that the physician not communicate in any other manner with the examiner about the employee's condition, treatment or claim. 

(j)   After a party receives an examiner's report, communication with the examiner is limited as follows and must be in accord with this subsection. . . . 

(k)  If a party's communication with an examiner is not in accordance with (j) of this section, the board may not admit the evidence obtained by the communication at a hearing and may not consider it in connection with an agreed settlement. 

In addressing a claim that the board improperly permitted Dr. Brooks to perform an SIME in a case in which the State of Alaska was a party, while at the same time Dr. Brooks had several pending evaluations on contract with the State as an employer, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Commission ruled that a “SIME physician has a duty to perform his or her quasi-official function . . . impartially and, . . . that duty requires pre-appointment disclosure of conflicts of interest to the appointing authority.”
  That decision was issued after the assignment of Mr. Ellen’s case to Dr. Brooks, and after Dr. Brooks had prepared his reports filed here.  The Commission instructed that the existence of a potential conflict of interest based on a current financial relationship between the prospective SIME physician and a party triggers the obligation to disclose, and that only actual partiality is disqualifying.  Past employment as a contractor for a party is not disqualifying, nor does it even give rise to a duty to disclose under the rule of Olafson.

The board faced the issue of a potential conflict of interest regarding a SIME physician before, in the case of Gamez v. United Parcel Service.
  In Gamez, the board decided to order re-assignment to a different SIME panelist after it was revealed that Dr. Fuller had a financial relationship with other physicians whom had examined the employee at the behest of the employer in that case.  The Central Panel of the board ruled that a SIME conducted by a physician under those facts would prevent the board from protecting the rights of the parties, particularly where it devolved to the SIME physician’s scheduler to make a determination of potential conflicts of interest.

In adoption of 8 AAC 45.120, the board has deemed the reports of SIME physicians to be trustworthy documents under Alaska Evidence Rule 803(23), provided that the SIME process is beyond question.  In 8 AAC 45.092, the board has enacted regulatory standards to assure that its SIME doctors are impartial and qualified to offer opinions in their area of expertise.  Parties are still permitted to depose and question a SIME physician, but must follow the guidelines established at 8 AAC 45.092(j).  One purpose of an SIME is to assist the board when there are significant differences of opinion between the parties' physicians.  As such, an SIME is an administrative tool meant to facilitate the resolution of disputed claims.  It is an evaluation controlled and governed by the board in reliance upon the exercise of discretion by its designees.
  

In Bah v. Trident Seafoods,
 the AWCAC further affirmed that the board has discretion to order an SIME when there is a significant gap in the medical or scientific evidence and when an opinion by an independent medical examiner or other scientific examination will help the board in resolving the issue before it.
  Under either AS 23.30.095(k) or  AS 23.30.110(g), the AWCAC noted that the purpose of ordering an SIME is to assist the board.
  

Here, rather than arguing for the outright exclusion of the evaluation report and testimony of 
Dr. Brooks, the employee argued that the board should give it less weight.  The employee cited no legal authority for this proposition.  The employer, in its reliance on Dr. Brooks’ testimony and report, impliedly opposes this view, and argued that we should place great weight on Dr. Brooks’ opinions, but again without citation to authority discussing whether we should discount in any way an SIME report by a physician who had previously performed an EIME of that same employee at the behest of a different employer.

Dr. Brooks was instructed in writing by the board’s designee to disclose to the parties and the designee any potential conflict of interest, prior to progressing with work on the SIME.  Dr. Brooks failed to do this.  Dr. Brooks wrote in his 2007 SIME report that he felt there was no conflict of interest, because 14 years had passed after the October 1993 report, and he had expressed the view that the employee’s condition was compensable.  This is not the full story: Dr. Brooks as part of the 1993panel EIME opined that the employee’s condition was compensable, but that in 1993 the employee needed no further surgery.  As summarized above, the employee went on to receive additional surgeries despite Dr. Brooks’ opinions, and ultimately achieved a pain-free state and returned to work from 1999 to 2005 after the anterior fusion surgery.

We conclude that either we should admit Dr. Brooks’ report and testimony, or not, based on our determination of whether an actual conflict of interest is posed, and that if admitted, we should give it the weight it is otherwise due on the merits.  We are aware of no authority that permits or requires us to admit the report and testimony, but give it lesser weight either because of an actual conflict of interest, or the appearance of a conflict of interest.  Dr. Brooks testified, we find credibly so, that he did not recall the employee or the fact of his prior examination of the employee, until he ran across his earlier report in the SIME records.  Dr. Brooks’ report recites that he realized this after completion of the oral history and physical exam.  Dr. Brooks was not clear whether he reached this recognition before, during, or after the physical exam.  While it may be preferable for physicians to thoroughly review medical records before an exam, there may be reasons why they choose not to completely review medical records until after an examination is completed.  Our record reveals that neither  the board’s designee, the employee’s counsel, the employer’s counsel, nor Dr. Brooks realized this before Dr. Brooks had spent at least some time in preparation of the case.  The record shows that the parties sent the SIME records off to the board without knowing who the SIME physician would be; only after receiving the letter of assignment to the SIME physician would either office know the identity of the SIME, and whether a conflict or potential conflict exists.  We do not think it realistic for the board to expect the parties, every time an SIME is assigned, to have to pore through the SIME binders to identify whether an SIME physician has been a treating physician, or has performed an EIME in the case.  Neither do we think it realistic to expect our workers’ compensation officers or other staff to review lengthy medical records (in this case, the SIME records total 415 pages) in an attempt to ferret out potential conflicts of interest, such as whether the employee was treated or examined earlier by the SIME physician.  The most reasonable system for catching potential conflicts of interest depends upon the SIME physician having a conflict evaluation process, and a process for disclosure before work on the SIME begins.

Prior examination of the employee by a potential SIME physician is a factor to be evaluated by a workers’ compensation officer in deciding whether to refer a matter to that physician.
  However, under our regulation, it is only one of several factors the board designee is required to apply in deciding whether to refer for an SIME.  We conclude that the fact of prior examination of an employee, either as a treating physician or as a examining physician, does not automatically disqualify a physician from serving as an SIME.  However, we believe the Commission’s precedent in Olafson and our regulations impose the obligation on the physician to have a system in place to easily and quickly identify whether the physician has previously examined an employee prior to initiation of work on an SIME, as well as to identify other potential conflicts such as current work for the same employer, insurer, or other party in the case, and to disclose those potential conflicts of interest before proceeding further on the SIME work.  After disclosure, it will be up to the parties whether to object, and bring the issue before the board’s designee for resolution.  

As Olafson instructs, only actual conflicts will be found to be disqualifying.  We do not find an actual conflict here, that is we do not find circumstances suggesting that because of present financial interest, or personal interest, Dr. Brooks lacked the ability to be impartial at the time he performed the SIME, and afterward, including his testimony before us.  Accordingly, we conclude that the SIME report and Dr. Brooks testimony is properly admitted, and we do not discount it just because he acted on a panel EIME that examined the employee in 1993.

II.  COMPENSABILITY OF THE INJURY

The Alaska Supreme Court held “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”
  To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. “[I]n claims ‘based on highly technical medical considerations,’ medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”
 

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced refuting entitlement to the claimed benefit.
 Substantial evidence has been defined as “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”
  The presumption may be overcome by presenting affirmative evidence which, if accepted, excludes the work injury as a factor in the need for medical care.  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability for benefits: (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a treatable work‑related condition; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the employee’s claimed disability and claimed need for medical benefits are work-related, reasonable, or necessary.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.

The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  “Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself.”
  The board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer’s evidence until we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him to benefits.

For injuries involving pre-existing conditions, the Alaska Supreme Court has held that a pre-existing, asymptomatic condition aggravated by workplace conditions to render a condition symptomatic is compensable.
  The subsequent injury is compensable if the employment "aggravated, accelerated or combined with” a preexisting condition to bring about the need for medical treatment.
  

The parties here argued that the so-called “last injurious exposure” (LIE) rule applied in this case.
  Under this rule, full liability is imposed on the most recent employer whose employment substantially contributed to the employee's current disability and need for medical treatment.
  We have doubt that LIE rule is appropriately applied in a case where the original injury occurred outside Alaska, to a person not an Alaska resident at the time of original injury, while working for a non-Alaska resident corporation.
  However, assuming that our doubt is misguided, and because the parties have argued it, we have analyzed the facts under the LIE rule as well.  Under that rule the board must make two findings: (1) whether the employment "aggravated, accelerated or combined with” a preexisting condition; and (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in bringing about the need for medical treatment.
 An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that "but for" the subsequent employment, the disability or need for medical care would not have happened as it did, when it did, and the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability or need for medical care that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility for it.
  We find that both questions under the LIE rule are answered in the affirmative under the facts of this case. 

Based on the testimony of the employee, his spouse, his nephew, his treating physicians
Drs. Schwaegler and Wolf, and consulting orthopedist Dr. Bozarth, we find that the employee has established the preliminary link in the compensability analysis, both under the rule regarding a pre-existing condition and under the LIE rule.  We find that this evidence supports that the employee had a pre-existing back condition that included an L4-L5-S1 fusion, deterioration of the L3-L4 segment, and pre-disposition to injury of the L3-4 segment.  We find that this evidence supports that the June 1, 2005 episode accelerated, aggravated or  combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition to cause the employee’s current disability and need for treatment.

Turning to the second stage of the compensability analysis, reviewing the employer’s evidence in isolation without weighing credibility or other factors, we find that the employer has rebutted the presumption through the opinions of Drs. Brooks, Provencher, Vincent, and Mr. Smith, supported by the testimony of Mr. Durrette.  Dr. Vincent’s reports, including the panel EIME with Dr. Provencher, supports the conclusion that the employee is not currently disabled and needs no further medical treatment.  Dr. Brooks’ reports and opinions, in the alternative, supports the position that the employee’s current disability and need for treatment was not caused by the workplace episode, but is entirely the result of the employee’s earlier workplace injury in California.

At the third stage of compensability analysis, weighing all of the evidence together, we find that the employee has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that workplace conditions on Prince of Wales Island accelerated, aggravated or combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition to cause a permanent worsening of the employee’s condition, that but for this employment, would not have occurred when it did, as it did, and that the acceleration, aggravation or combination is a substantial cause of the employee’s current need for medical treatment, including the need for L3-4 fusion surgery.

Weighing the evidence together, we find the opinions of Dr. Vincent and Provencher are not supported by the entirety of the medical records, in particular Dr. Vincent’s opinions are not informed by the March 2006 MRI films themselves, as the record reflects that he reviewed only the reports of the March 2006 lumbar and thoracic MRIs.  Dr. Provencher’s opinions, if any, in reaction to the March 2006 MRIs are not of record.  Dr. Vincent’s opinion that the employee has no “back condition” is refuted by no less than four orthopedic physicians: Dr. Schwaegler, Dr. Wolf, Dr. Bozarth, and Dr. Brooks, whom all agree that fusion at the L3-4 level is indicated on the present medical record.  We find Dr. Vincent’s responses to questions during deposition to be so argumentative that we came to doubt his objectivity, and therefore the objectivity of his observation and recordation of the employee’s signs and symptoms that underpin his conclusion that the employee demonstrated “non-neuroanatomical, non-neurophysiological and non-dermatomal” signs and symptoms.  A biased physician can introduce bias by claiming a non-dermatomal distribution of pain, sensation or other neurological signs, and the only way another party can definitively establish this bias is to observe the exam, otherwise seek to record it, or adduce testimony from another physician with different findings.  If the latter approach is taken, the board will be faced with the task, as here, of assessing the credibility of two physicians with different findings on neurological exam.  On the existence of objective signs supporting the employee’s reports of pain, we find Dr. Vincent’s testimony not credible, and Dr. Schweigler’s testimony (supported by chart notes by Dr. Bozarth and Dr. Wolf) more credible, and we therefore gave Dr. Vincent’s testimony and the Vincent/Provencher EIME report little weight.

On the question of whether (a) the onset of the employee’s pain either while steering, (b) the event or the roll-over, or (c) the event of the employee’s exiting from the vehicle accelerated, aggravated, or combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition to cause a permanent worsening of condition, we find the employee’s testimony credible that the road was rough, the air cushioning of the seat was non-operative, the truck’s power steering
 was functioning poorly to give little assistance in turning, and the employee had to either jump or climb down a distance of at least 8.5 feet from the passenger side of the cab while in a state of extreme pain that was worsened when he “hit” the ground.  The evidence adduced by the employer on these points, we find, was less persuasive than the employee’s direct, percipient testimony, which was not refuted by any direct, percipient witness who could report on the condition of the truck or the employee at the time of the workplace events.  No witness or other evidence refuted the employee’s testimony that the road was rough.  We find the indirect evidence adduced by the employer regarding the condition of the truck’s air cushioned seat (the statement by J.L. Howatt), and the power steering (the trooper’s report, and the June 15, 2005 Boyer vehicle inspection report), was less probative than the employee’s direct, percipient testimony.
Mr. Durrette provided no testimony on the condition of the truck, other than to authenticate the June 15, 2005 vehicle inspection report, and that the truck was not damaged in the roll-over.  No witness refuted the witness’ testimony that he was rolling on the ground in pain when co-workers arrived after the accident.

We gave little weight to the attribution of “no injury” in the trooper’s report and Dr. Anderson’s initial chart note and physician’s report, as well as the observation of no ecchymosis or erythema in PA-C Welser’s chart note of June 1, 2005.  In context, we find these entries meant that there was no observable injury to the naked eye, such as a bruise, cut, or abrasion, resulting from the operation of the truck, the turn, the roll-over event and its aftermath.  We find the absence of such minor injuries to be beside the point, as the real question is whether the employee sustained injury to the deep tissues of the his spinal column, which would not be observable to a casual, lay observer such as a trooper, or even the employee himself (who on the contrary reported “10 out of 10” pain with radiation down his right leg, not “no injury”).  We find credible the employee’s testimony that he did not recall speaking to a trooper, and thus we have doubt the trooper’s report is based on a direct interview of the employee.  We do not find that the trooper’s report constitutes an admission by the employee that he sustained “no injury.”  The trooper’s report recites that the employee was evacuated with complaints of back pain, which certainly belies a layman’s conclusion of “no injury.”  The SEARHC chart note describes the chief complaint as “injured as the driver of a single vehicle motor vehicle accident.”  The SEARHC PAs administered 100 mg. of fentanyl to the employee while he was at the SEARHC clinic, prescribed the muscle relaxer Flexeril, and restricted him from working, suggesting they certainly felt that the employee’s reports of pain were credible and required medical treatment.

Dr. Anderson’s note and physician’s report of June 8, 2005 are potentially the strongest evidence of the “no injury” theory, but we have carefully examined the record, and note that both were prepared before, and therefore were uninformed by, the MRI imaging that Dr. Anderson had ordered, and that was performed the same day.
  Dr. Anderson’s cautious release back to work, which prohibited Mr. Ellen (as a commercial driver) from driving, suggested that Dr. Anderson certainly had doubts about the employee’s condition.  We find that Dr. Anderson’s conclusion of medical stability on the physician’s report is counterintuitive and not supported by the entire medical record when in the same report the doctor describes referral for further evaluation (which led to additional treatment).  The entire record shows that on and after June 1, 2005, after a temporary improvement, the employee described worsening pain, confirmed on MRI and x-ray studies to demonstrate disc protrusion and anterolisthesis.  By the time Dr. Bozarth examined the employee in August 2006, this anterolisthesis “appears fixed” (as in static, not transient, rather than “cured”).  Dr. Bozarth reads the March 2006 MRI studies as showing a herniation, not a mere bulge.
  For these reasons, we gave Dr. Anderson’s reports of June 8, 2005 little weight on the question of compensability, as we find they were preliminary, without the benefit of the MRI studies and the expert input of the employee’s treating orthopedists.

We find Mr. Smith’s opinions, that the steering and ΔV forces involved were too small to cause injury, are not probative in a case involving a driver compromised by a pre-existing condition, of which the employer was informed before the employment began.  We find Mr. Smith’s testimony about the design of trucks did not respond to the employee’s testimony about the condition of the particular truck the employee was driving.  We find the evidence overwhelmingly establishes that the employee’s onset of pain occurred while he was in the act of steering the truck in a right hand turn, suggesting that moment as the moment of injury.
Neither Dr. Vincent nor Dr. Brooks could rule out the annular tear as occurring during the episode, and both admitted that annular tears can induce pain.

On the question of acceleration, aggravation, or combination, we compared the differing opinions of Dr. Brooks and Dr. Schwaegler.  We found no basis in the record for Dr. Brooks’ conclusion that the rate of decline of the L3-4 segment was not accelerated by the workplace events.  We find that Dr. Schwaegler’s contrary opinion, that the rate of decline of the L3-4 segment was accelerated, is supported by his reference to the objective MRI and other imaging evidence.

We find that Dr. Brooks’ conclusion that the decline of the L3-4 segment would occur inevitably does not refute Dr. Schwaegler’s opinion that workplace conditions caused a permanent worsening of the employee’s condition.  Dr. Schwaegler has the greatest longitudinal knowledge of the employee’s condition than any other physician, and so we place great weight on his opinion that the instability of the L3-4 segment appears, to him, to have accelerated and combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition to cause a permanent worsening.  In particular, the evidence shows the employee was demonstrated in late 1996 and early 1997 to have herniation at L3-4, without symptomology.  This segment received especial attention in 1997, before the then-contemplated anterior fusion procedure.
  The evidence is unrefuted that the employee worked without significant symptoms of back pain (taking only Advil) from 1999 up until June 1, 2005.  

Dr. Brooks’ testimony suggested that he doubted the employee’s credibility on whether the employee was asymptomatic immediately prior to June 1, 2005, but, taking into consideration the small inconsistencies such as the precise speed of the dump truck when the incident occurred, where the employee was first taken for medical care, whether x-rays were taken at the SEARHC clinic, or the precise dates of the employee’s falls and injury to the right shoulder, overall we find the employee credible, and we find the employee’s testimony is supported by the equally credible testimony of the employee’s spouse and nephew that he was able to be active and essentially symptom-free prior to June 1, 2005.  Because Dr. Brooks’ opinion depended upon the employee’s credibility, we find we must discount Dr. Brooks’ opinions accordingly.  

We find that there has been a permanent worsening of the employee’s condition, in that (1) for six years prior to June 1, 2005, he was asymptomatic, and after that date, he has not been able to return to work; (2) he expresses continuing pain (we find, credibly so);
 and (3) his condition is now objectively worsening
 as shown by x-ray, MRI, and other studies (with increasing anterolisthesis, with apparent fixation of the listhesis on Dr. Bozarth’s x-ray of August 2007).

We find that the employment by the employer with knowledge of his pre-existing back condition, driving a fully-loaded dump truck with poorly-functioning power steering and a non-functioning air suspension seat on rough, newly constructed logging roads was a substantial factor in the employee’s current disability and need for treatment.  We find that based on the medical and other evidence, reasonable persons would attribute responsibility for the employee’s current condition to the employer under these circumstances, despite the brevity of the employment.

For these reasons, we find that the employee has sustained his burden at the third stage of the compensability analysis.


III.  ENTITLEMENT TO TTD:

The employee seeks continuing TTD benefits after March 22, 2006, the last date the employer paid TTD benefits.  AS 23.30.185 provides for TTD benefits as follows:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395(16) defines disability as “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.”  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:
The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

Here, we find that the employee has met his burden to show a preliminary link that he had a workplace-caused injury, that he continued to be totally disabled as defined by AS 23.30.395(16) by that injury after March 22, 2006, and that his disability is continuing through the date of this decision.  This finding is based on the evidence of the testimony of the employee, his spouse, his nephew, Dr. Schwaegler, and the medical records (including Dr. Wolf’s and Dr. Bozarth’s chart notes).

The employer controverted the employee’s claim of disability after March 22, 2006, based on
Dr. Vincent’s March 17, 2006 follow-up “check-the-box” responses to employer’s counsel’s March 10, 2006 letter.  In that letter, Dr. Vincent opines that the employee experienced a “temporary aggravation” that “had resolved” by the time of the December 9, 2005 examination.  This evidence, viewed in isolation, is sufficient to rebut the employee’s claim of entitlement to further TTD benefits.

At the third stage of the compensability analysis, all presumptions fall out, and the burden of persuasion shifts to the employee to establish by a preponderance of the evidence his entitlement to his claim for further benefits.  We find that the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee has met this burden.  On continuing temporary total disability after March 22, 2006, we find the employee’s testimony of his continuing pain, and his reports of pain to his medical providers, to be credible and supported by the medical records documenting objectively observed and recorded signs and symptoms, including muscle spasm, guarded ambulation, restricted range of motion, diminished heel/toe walking, lower extremity weakness, flexion/extension x-rays showing anterolisthesis, and lumbar MRI films.  The Vincent/Provencher EIME report, and Dr. Vincent’s testimony, raise the view of “disability conviction.”  We give lesser weight to “check-the-box” letters drafted by attorneys,
 but even without that discount, as before we find Dr. Vincent’s findings and opinions not credible.  We find that the continued prescription of pain medications by the employee’s medical providers, the temporary relief after SI joint and epidural injections, the objective medical evidence recited by Dr. Schwaegler and Dr. Wolf, and Dr. Schwaegler’s and Dr. Wolf’s opinion that the employee’s reports of pain are genuine, we find outweigh the contrary opinions of
Drs. Vincent and Provencher.  Dr. Brooks noted Waddell’s signs during his examination of the employee, but even he did not opine that those signs meant that the L3-4 fusion was not indicated, concluding that although the employee’s symptoms are “somewhat greater than the objective pathology,” that depression can lower pain thresholds, and that the employee was not fabricating his symptoms. 

In weighing the respective reports and opinions of Drs. Bozarth, Brooks, Provencher, Schwaegler, Vincent  and Wolf, we find Dr. Schwaegler’s, Dr. Wolf’s and Dr. Bozarth’s opinions most persuasive and we gave those opinions the greatest weight on the need for further surgery.  We find the employee has not reached medical stability.  We find that the employee is entitled to additional TTD benefits, from March 22, 2006 until the date of this decision, and continuing until medical stability is reached.  We find that the parties do not dispute that the employee’s TTD weekly rate is $562.38.  Based on these findings, we find employee is entitled to an additional $73,671.78, calculated as 131 weeks of TTD at $562.38 per week, through the date of this decision, plus TTD benefits continuing until medical stability is reached.

IV.
EMPLOYER’S ENTITLEMENT TO OFFSET FOR SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS

It was unrefuted that the employee has received no Social Security benefits based on disability, and that his claim is currently in denied status, on appeal within the Social Security Administration.  Accordingly, we find no basis for ordering an offset against TTD at this time.  However, it is possible that the employee will receive a retroactive Social Security disability payment, and based particularly the opinions of the employee’s treating physicians, we conclude that the employee has at least a possibility of obtaining Social Security benefits.  Accordingly, we shall dismiss the Social Security offset issue, without prejudice.

 III.  ATTORNEY  FEES  AND COSTS 

AS 23.30.145(a) provides, in relevant part:
Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, . . . .  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.. . .

AS 23.30.145 (b) provides:

If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

We find the employee’s claim was resisted by the employer.
  We have found the employee’s claim compensable.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs under
AS 23.30.145.
  

Subsection .145(b) requires the award of attorney fees and costs to be reasonable.  The
Alaska Supreme Court instructs that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingent nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.
  We consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for successful prosecution of claims.
    

The employee filed affidavits of attorney fees and legal costs itemizing 166.68 hours of total attorney time, billed at rate of $250 per hour, for a total amount of $41,670.00; CBJ sales taxes at 5% totaling $2,083.50; and $8,898.41 in out-of-pocket expenses.  We note the claimed hourly rate of $250.00 is at the middle of the range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases.
  The employer has not objected to any of the claimed fees or expenses, except for those expended relating to a mediation effort, which totaled 29 hours.  The employer initially sought an offset for the expenses of mediation, but without objection from the employee withdrew the issue at the hearing, reserving it for re-assertion if the board found the claim compensable.

Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the reasoned and vigorous resistance of the employer, and the benefits resulting to the employee from the services provided, we find the claimed attorney fees and out-of-pocket legal costs were efficient and reasonable for the successful prosecution of this medically complex claim, with the exception of the 29 hours expended on mediation efforts, on which we make no findings on the present record.
We conclude the employee is entitled to $34,420.00
 in fees for attorney services and paralegal assistant costs, $1,721 in CBJ sales taxes, and other legal costs of $8,898.41, under
AS 23.30.145(b).  We reserve jurisdiction to resolve the issue of the employee’s entitlement to the additional 29 hours in fees for work performed relating to the mediation effort with any post-decision petition the employer may file regarding the mediation or Social Security offset. 


ORDER
1. We grant the employee’s claim, and declare that the employer is responsible for the employee’s past and future, reasonably necessary medical expenses related to his right shoulder and low back conditions, and for continuing TTD until medical stability is reached;

2.  We award the employee $73,671.78 in past TTD, from March 22, 2006 to September 24, 2008;

3.  We dismiss the employer’s claim for Social Security offset without prejudice;

4. We award the employee $34,420.00 in attorneys fees, $1,721 in CBJ sales taxes, and $8,898.41 in other legal costs.

5. We reserve jurisdiction to resolve the employers’ claim for offset of mediation expenses, including the employee’s claim for 29 hours in attorneys fees and related CBJ sales taxes, for the employee’s counsel’s time spent in mediation efforts.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska this 24th day of September, 2008.



___________________________________



Michael Notar, Member


___________________________________                                

Robert B. Briggs, designated chairman

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JERRY D. ELLEN, employee / applicant; v. DURETTE CONSTRUCTION CO., INC., employer; ALASKA TIMBER INSURANCE EXCHANGE, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200508739, dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation board in Juneau, Alaska, on September ___, 2008.
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� At the July 18, 2007 pre-hearing conference, the employee through counsel noted the potential future claims for re-employment benefits and permanent total disability benefits, but acknowledged those claims are not yet ripe for adjudication.  7/18/07 PHC Summary (served 7/19/07).


� 2/19/91 [California] Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, filed in 2/13/07 Medical Records of Jerry Ellen (Bates-stamped page nos. 0001 through 00415)(hereinafter referred to as “SIME Medical Records”), at page 0006.


� SIME Medical Records at 0018


� Id. at 0025.


� Id. at 0070.


� Id. at 0078-80.


� Id. at 0142-43.


� Id. at 0284-285.


� Id. at 0294-296; 0306-07.


� See generally Id. at 0008-0310.


� Id. at 0311


� Id. at 0010.


� Id. at 0022.


� Id. at 0048.


� Id. at 0055.  See also Id. at 0053 (1/22/92 P.E. Schwaegler, MD, chart note).  Earlier, Dr. Schwaegler expresses concern about verifying the health of the L3-4 disc before undertaking the L4-S1 fusion.  Id. at 0050-0052 (1/7/92 P.E. Schwaegler, MD, Letter to R. West, MD, discussing concern for health of L3-4 disc and plan to “get another MRI which will show true T2 weighted images so we can get an idea of the hydration status of his other discs.”); id. at 0069.


� Id. at 0277 (12/10/06 P.E.Schwaegler, MD, chart note).


� Id. at 0278 (12/19/06 S.J. Nichols, MD, Report of MRI of the Lumbar Spine).


� Id. at 0280.


� Id. at 0283-0285.  A partial duplicate of the report of the 2/18/97 discogram procedure is found at 0286, while the full report is at 0284-0285.


� Id. at 0287.  See also Id. at 0288, 3/18/97 P.E. Schwaegler, MD, noting “early breakdown of the L3-4 facet joints.”


� SIME Medical Records at 0284-285.


� 9/17/07 P.E. Schwaegler, MD, Orthopedics International, Ltd., Letter to R.S. Lewis, MD, Id. at pages 0323-324.


� Id. at 0325-0336.


� 5/13/07 Recording of Proceedings, at 10:53-:54 (testimony of J. Ellen)(hereinafter, “5/13/07 Hrg.Rec. at [page#]”); see also Employee’s Exhibit 2, pages 12, 14, 15, 19, 23, 24, 26, 27.1, 29-31, 40-41, 43, 50;  4/24/06 Transcript of Deposition of J.Ellen (hereinafter, “Ellen Dep.”), at page 16, line 11 to page 17, line 8; at page 19, lines 8-11; at page 23, lines 3-14; 


� Ellen Dep. at page 7, line 21- page 8, line 1.  The employee lived in Ketchikan from 1971 to 1986 and graduated from high school in Ketchikan.  Id. at page 10, line 8 to page 11, line 23.


� Ellen Dep. at page 14, line 12 to page 15, line 10; 5/13/07 Hrg.Rec. at 10:58-11:00 (testimony of J. Ellen regarding work for Evergreen Timber); see also Employee’s Exhibit 2, at page 11.


� Id. at 0339 (“He denies use of medications. . . .  He does occasionally use Advil for his back pain.”); at 0342-33� (. . . has not required any medicines since that time [1996].  He has had minimal to no back discomfort until recently.”).


� Ellen Dep. at page 31, lines 10-24; at page 45, lines 12-18; at page 96, line 20 to 97, line 15 (no residual symptoms or limitations in activities of daily living from massage and physical therapy after last surgery until 6/1/05 accident).


� 5/13/06 Hrg. Rec. at 11:00-11:01.


� 6/1/05 ROI.


� Id. at 58, lines 11-21.  See also Id. at 63, lines 15-21 (“I was in the turn itself when the pain hit.”).


� Ellen Dep. at 95, line 14 to page 96, line 4; 5/13/08 Hrg.Rec. at 11:10-11:12.


� Id. at 64, lines 3-5.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 11: (told SIME physician Dr. Brooks, “less than 5 mph”); told Dr. Vincent “5 mph”).


� Id. at 11:10-11:11; 11:45-11:46.


� Id. at 11:10-11:12; 11:49-11:50.


� Ellen Dep. at 94, lines 14-17.


� Ellen Dep. at 63, lines 22-23.


� Id. at 11:04-11:05.


� Id. at 11:05-11:06; 11:11-11:13.


� Ellen Dep. at 94, line 22 to page 95, line 12; 5/13/08 Hrg.Rec. at 11:05-11:07; 11:08-11:09.


� 


� 


� Id. at 11:07-11:08.


� Id. at 11:03-11:04.


� 


� 


� Ellen Dep. at 93, lines 14-23.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 9:56-9:57 (testimony of R. Durrette, Sr.).


�Employer’s Exhibit A, page 2.


� 5/13/08 Hrg.Rec. at 11:15-11:17.


� Id. at 11:20-11:21.


� Id. at 11:15-11:17.


� 


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 11:17-11:17; 12:08-12:09.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 11:14-11:17.


� Ellen Dep. at 68, lines 10-14.


� Id. (drawing).  The employee’s drawing of the dump truck at rest also shows a similar path of travel, after initiation of a right turn onto the south-bound road. Ellen Dep., Exh. 1.


� Employer’s Exh. A, page 2 (“Photos Taken: ● 01 Y”).


� This was identified as a lap belt in the report.  6/1/05 Trooper R.C. Claus, Alaska Motor Vehicle Collision Report, filed as Employer’s Exhibit A, page 3.


� Id., Employer’s Exhibit A, page 2..


� Id. at page 3 (under the category “Driver Restraint/Airbag”).


� Id. (under category of “Vehicle Circumstances,”  “06 Steering failure” is not marked).


� 5/13/08 Hrg.Rec. at 11:20-11:22.


� Employer’s Exhibit A, page 2.  There does not appear to be a chart note of the ambulance transport in the record.


� Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium.


� Hypertonus is a synonym of hypertonia, which is defined as “abnormally great muscular tonicity or contractility.  Compare spasticity.” Blakiston’s Gould Medical Dictionary, 4th Ed., at page 645. 


� The employee was uncertain as to where he was taken (he testified Craig, when the SEARHC records are from a clinic in Klawock), testified that he believed he was examined by a physician, and that no x-rays were taken at the SEARHC clinic in Klawock.  Ellen Dep. at page 69, lines 8-19.


� SIME Medical Records at 0337-0340, including 6/1/05 K. Welser, PA-C, Physician’s Report, Block 32.


� Ellen Dep. at page 69, line 20 to page 70, line 12.


� Id. at 0342-343.


� Id. at 0344 (6/8/05 N. Anderson, MD, Physician’s Report).


� Id. at 0345.


� Id. at 0347-48 (6/16/05 A. Wolf, MD, chart note).


� Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory pain reliever.


� Id. at 00353-53.


� Id. at 00354-55.


� Id. at 00356.


� 4/10/08 Transcript of Deposition of Paul E. Schwaegler, MD (hereinafter, “Schwaegler Dep.”) at page 18, line 8 to page 19, line 17.


� Id. at 00357-0359 (9/16/08 J. Fernandez, PA-C and P. Schwaegler, MD, Orthopedics International, Ltd., Chart Note.  The board panel noted another copy of the first two pages of this chart note, not bearing Dr. Schwaegler’s signature, in a medical summary filed by the employee’s counsel.  3/15/06 L. A. Bradley, Medical Summary (filed 3/16/06).  


� SIME Medical Records at 0361 (12/9/05 M. Provencher, MD and R. Vincent MD, EIME report, at page 1, under “Chief Complaints”).


� 1/12/06 A. Wolf, MD, Chart Note, SIME Medical Records at pages 00375-76.


� Id.  at page 0377-78.


� Id. at page 0379.


� Id. at pages 0392-94; 0400.


� Id. at page 0401 (12 days post-operatively); at page 0402-03 (noting positive Phalen’s test, diminished sensation in fingers of the right hand, and slight “clawing” of right small finger; diagnosis of possible right carpal tunnel syndrome”); at page 0404-06 (remaining temporarily totally disabled by the shoulder, opining unlikely return to truck driving).


� 8/24/06 A. Wolf, MD, chart note, filed in 12/8/06 Medical Summary (filed 12/12/06).


� SIME Medical Records at 0380-81.


� Id. at 0382-83.


� Id. at 0384-86.


� 8/9/06 G.R. Bozarth, MD, chart note, filed in SIME Medical Records at pages 0406-07.  While a portion of this record is obscured, evidently by a “sticky note” that was not removed during duplication, the full unobscured chart note is filed with 12/8/06 Medical Summary (filed 12/12/06), and the salient points of the note appear to be readable in the SIME Medical Records despite the obscuring of some of the text on duplication.


� 9/28/06 A. Wolf, MD, Letter To Whom it May Concern, filed in SIME Medical Records at page 0412.  See also at page 0400 (noting continuing back pain and planned back surgery); at page 0404 (nothing plan for spine evaluation by Bozarth in Juneau, continuing temporary disability); at page 0410-11 (noting “[h]is back is his main concern,” plan for back surgery with which Dr. Wolf agrees).


� SIME Medical Records at 0413-15.


� Id. at 75, line 23 to page 76, line 8.


� 6/17/05 P.J. Scott, ATIE, Compensation Report (filed 6/20/05); 7/15/05 P.J. Scott, ATIE, Compensation Report (filed 7/18/05)(changing compensation rate based on additional wage information received); 7/15/05 P.J. Scott, ATIE, Corrected Compensation Report (filed 9/25/05).


� 2/17/06 Entry of Appearance (by Ms. Zobel)(filed 2/21/06); 2/22/06 Notice of Deposition (filed 2/22/06).


� 3/15/06 WCC (filed 3/16/06); 7/18/07 Amended PHC Summary (served 8/1/07), at page 1.


� 3/29/06 Controversion Report (filed 3/31/06), at Block 14.  There was reference to Dr. Vincent’s “supplement of 03/10/06,” but in context this is referring to Dr. Vincent’s 3/17/06 response to a letter dated 3/10/06 from Ms. Zobel.   See also 4/4/06 Answer to Workers’ Compensation Claim (filed 4/6/06). 


� 12/18/06 ARH (filed 12/19/06).


� 12/18/06 Affidavit in Objection to [ARH] (filed 12/19/06).


� 1/25/07 T. Batchelor, Letter to J. Cohen, WCO (conveying completed SIME forms); 1/25/07 PHC Summary (served 1/29/07).


� 1/29/07 Notice of Possible Claim Against the Second Injury Fund (filed 1/29/07), with attached 9/16/05 J. Fernandez, PA-C & P.E. Schwaegler, MD, Chart Note, Orthopedics International LLC.


� 10/14/93 M.E. Reif, MD and C.N. Brooks, MD, EIME Report to K. Mullick, Liberty Northwest Ins. Corp., filed in 3/6/06 Medical Summary (filed 3/16/06).


� 2/13/07 Medical Records of Jerry Ellen (Bates-stamped page nos. 00219-00233)(hereinafter, “SIME Medical Records”).  2/1/07  P.G. Carnahan, Affidavit of Service of SIME Medical Records (filed 2/5/07); 2/9/07 C. Parks, Affidavit of Service of SIME Medical Records (filed 2/13/07).


� 3/1/07 J. Cohen, WCO, AWCB, to J.D. Ellen; 3/1/07 J. Cohen, WCO, AWCB, to C. Brooks, MD.


� 3/1/07 J. Cohen, Letter to Dr. Brooks, at page 1.


� 3/9/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, [Second] Independent Medical Examination of J.D. Ellen (filed 4/9/07), at page 3


� 4/19/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, Letter to T.G. Batchelor (filed 4/23/07).


� 7/18/07 Amended PHC Summary, at page 1 (served 8/1/07).


� The employer also raised as a partial affirmative defense entitlement to offset for the expenses of an unsuccessful mediation effort.  Id. at page 1; see 7/27/07 P. Zobel, Letter to J. Wright, H.O. At hearing, the employer decided to withdraw the mediation expense offset issue as not ripe for litigation, making it unnecessary for the panel to decide an evidentiary issue of the admissibility of the parties’ conduct during an attempt at mediation.  See 5/14/08 Hrg.Rec. at 9:15-:16 (closing argument of Ms. Zobel). 


� AWCAC Dec. No. 061 (Oct. 25, 2007).


� 7/18/07 Amended PHC Summary, at page 2 (served 8/1/07).


� Id. at page 1 (defining issues for hearing).  At this July 18, 2007 pre-hearing conference, the employee through counsel noted the potential future claims for re-employment benefits and permanent total disability benefits, but acknowledged those claims are not yet ripe for adjudication.  Id. at page 1.  See also 9/26/07 Order for Continuance [approving stipulation for continuance]; 11/13/07 PHC Summary at page 2 (incorporating issues for hearing by reference to 7/18/07 PHC Summary.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 9:43-9:46.


� Id. at 10:14-10:15.


� Id. at 10:15-10:16.


� Id. at 10:17-10:18.


� Id. at 10:17-10:18.


� See surveillance video, at _________.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 10:17-10:18.


� Id. at 10:05-10:06.


� Id. at 9:54-9:56.


� Id. at 9:56-9:57.


� Id. at 9:57-9:58.


� Id. at 10:00-10:01.


� Id. at 10:02-10:03.


� 5/14/08 Hrg. Rec. at 9:16-9:17.


� Id. at 9:08:9:09.


� Id. at 9:09-9:17 (statements of Ms. Zobel and Mr. Batchelor).


� 4/10/08 Transcript of Deposition of Paul E. Schwaegler, MD (filed 5/13/08)(“Schwaegler Dep.”).


� Dr. Schwaegler performed a discography of the employee in February 1991.  SIME Medical Records at 0009.  Dr. Schweigler accepted the employee as a patient on referral from Richard West, MD, who performed the first two discectomies in April and May 1991.  Id. at 0018, 0025.  The medical records reveal particular concern by�Dr. Schwaegler of the employee’s inability to accept certain blood coagulation products for religious reasons.  E.g., Id. at 0009 (discussing use of Cell-Saver); at 0051-0052 (discussing same).  


� The most recent record, prior to the June 1, 2005 event, reflecting medical services by Dr. Schwaegler are a January 1999 chart note of exam, and a March 1999 letter to an insurer recommending continued massage therapy.  Id. at 0330, 00332. 


� [Cite]


� Schwaegler Dep. at 11, line 11- page 12, line 16.


� Dr. Schwaegler testified he was told the speed was approximately 5 mph.  Id. at 21, lines 2-5.


� Id. at 12, line 11 to page 13, line 3; see also at page 20, lines 4-9.


� Id. at 13, lines 10-18.


� Id. at page 13, line 25 to page 14, line 7; at page 15, lines 15-19.


� Id. at page 16, line 20 to page 17, line 11.


� Id. at page 33, line 22 to page 34, line 7.


� Id. at 22, line 7 to page 23, line 22.


� Id. at 21, line 8 to page 22, line 9.


� Id. at 24, line 18 to page 25, line 14.


� Dr. Schwaegler noted a non-symptomatic herniation at L3-4 detected in 1997.   Id. at page 30, line 16- page 31, line 9.


� Id. at page 27, lines 6-12.


� Id. at 32, lines 13-25.


� Id. at page 38, line 10 to page 39, line 7.


� Id. at page 39, lines 8-23.


� Id. at page 40, lines 14-22.


� 12/9/05 R.L. Vincent, MD and M. Provencher, MD, Objective Medical Assessments Corp., at page 3-4, 6-8, filed in SIME Medical Records at 0363-64, 0366-67.


� Id. at page 0368.


� Id. at page 0369, paras. no. 2, 3, and 4 under “Diagnoses.”


� Id. at page 0369-70, para. no. 2, under “Recommendations and Discussion.”


� Id. at 0370-71, paras. no. 3, 4, 5, and 8 under “Recommendations and Discussion.”


� Id. at 0371, para. no. 8.


� See SIME Medical Records at 0380-83 for the reports of these MRI exams.  No herniation of a thoracic disc was detected, although signal at T10 was noted “consistent with hemangioma or lipoma” at that level, and evidence of moderate right facet arthropathy at T9-10 and mild left facet arthropathy at T10-11.  Id. at 0382-83.  It is unclear from the report whether the lumbar MRI was enhanced, or not.  Id. at 0380-81.


� See Id. at 0389 (date of Dr. Vincent’s signature).


� 3/17/06 R. Vincent, MD, Responses to Questions posed in 3/10/06 Letter fr. P. Zobel, filed in SIME Medical Records at page 0387.


� Id. at 0388.


� 9/12/07 Transcript of Deposition of Ronald L. Vincent, MD (hereinafter, “Vincent Dep.”).


� Vincent Dep. at page 4, lines 7-21.


� Id. at 16, line 24 to page 17, line 20.


� Id. at 18, lines 5-14.


� Id. at 18, lines 15-24.


� Id. at 19, lines 5-14.


� Id. at 20, lines 12-19.


� Id. at page 22, lines 7-17.


� Id. at 26, line 20 to page 27, line 4.


� Id. at 32, lines 5-9.


� Id. at 29, line 20 to page 30, line1.


� Id. at 33, line 1-20.  See also at page 57,  lines 20-23 (“there was a mechanism present there”); at page 92, lines 15-23.


� Id. at 36, lines 1-10.


� Id. at 36, lines 13-24.


� Id. at 37, lines 3-5.


� Id. at page 37, line 6- page 38, line 4.


� Id. at page 38, lines 5-8.[There is no evidence in the record that the employer, after the Provencher/Vincent EIME report was issued in contradiction of Dr. Anderson’s work restriction of “no driving,” ever offered for the employee to return to work as a truck driver.]


� Mr. Batchelor’s cross-examination began on page 38 of the deposition transcript.


� Id. at page 43, line 15 to page 44, line 8.


� Id. at 88, lines 11-19.


� Id. at 52, line 15 to page 54, line 2; at page 56, lines 10-18.


� Id. at page 58, line 15 to page 60, line 12.


� Id. at 63, line 19 to page 64, line 3.


� Id. at 80, line 20 to 81, line 1.


� Id. at 81, line 24 to page 82, line 5.


� Id. at 83, lines 2-8.


� Id. at 83, lines 9-13.


� Id., passim; see also SIME Medical Records at 0387-0389.


� Id. at 23, line 11 to page 24, line 12.


� Dr. Brooks’ letterhead states that he is a Diplomate of the American Board of Orthopaedic Surgery and the American Board of Independent Medical Examiners.  3/9/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, [Report of] Independent Medical Examination of Jerry D. Ellen (hereinafter, “SIME Report”), at page 1 (filed 4/9/07).  At hearing, Dr. Brooks explained that his board certification had expired and his application for re-certification is pending.  5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 4:13-:14.


� Id. at pages 6-8, including at page 7 under “Orthopedic Surgery.”  There is reference to a 3/10/06 letter from Ms. Zobel, which as described above we infer was the letter from Ms. Zobel to EIME Dr. Vincent, with his responses.  See SIME Medical Records at pages 0387-089.


� Dr. Brooks used the term “protrusion,” then later in the report identified two categories of herniation, extrusions and protrusion.  Cf. Id. at page 15 (diagnosis no. 6) and at page 19 (discussing types of herniations).


� Id. at 16.


� Id. at pag 26 (response to Question No. 3).


� Id.


� Id. at 27 (response to Questions No. 4 and No. 5 (“no permanent anatomical change”)).


� Id. at 20 (discussing December 19, 1996 and June 9, 2005 MRI scans); at 26, response to Question No. 3).


� Id. at 20.


� Id. at 26 (response to Question No. 3).


� 4/19/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, Letter to T. Batchelor, at 6 (response to Question No. 2).


� Dr. Brooks stated that the vehicle roll-over “probably did combine with Mr. Ellen’s pre-existing conditions to accelerate his need for the almost inevitable L3-4 fusion.  However, given the absence of any evidence of injury during the roll to the left or upon impact with the ground, I cannot state with a reasonable degree of medical probability either was traumatic, or resulted in the need for definitive treatment or acceleration thereof.”  Id. at pages 8-9 (response to Question No. 7).


� Id. at 7 (“There is no indication Mr. Ellen was injured when climbing out of the cab.”)


� Dr. Brooks used this mathematical reference in his response to a question from the employee’s counsel.  Dr. Brooks explained that ∆ (“delta”) is a mathematical symbol used for “change,” and “V” is a symbol used in mathematical or physics formulas for velocity.  Thus ∆V refers to the magnitude of the change of velocity to which a human body is subjected during a motor vehicle accident.  Dr. Brooks opined that “studies have repeatedly shown the collision parameter most closely related to occupant injury potential is ∆V.”  4/19/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, Letter to T. Batchelor, at 3-5 (response to Question No. 2).  Dr. Brooks cited a study concluding that impacts with a ∆V of less than 5 mph in lateral impact generally could be tolerated without symptoms by a “reasonably health human subject.” Id. at 5 (citing study by T.J. Szabo, et al.). 


� Id. at 6 (“if the ∆V was 5 mph, Mr. Ellen was probably not injured by the side impact.”)


� 4/19/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, Letter to T. Batchelor, at 7(response to Question No. 4).


� Id. at pages 27-28.


� Id. at 27 (“probably caused a temporary recurrence or worsening of Mr. Ellen’s pre-existing symptoms”). 


� 4/19/07 C.N. Brooks, MD, Letter to T. Batchelor, at 2-3 (response to Question No. 1).


� Dr. Brooks noted objective evidence of progressive instability at L3-4 as shown on the lateral flexion/extension x-rays.  Id. at 8, response to Question No. 6).


� SIME Report at page 28 (response to Question No. 6).


� Id. at 23 - 26


� Id. at 28 (response to Question Nos. 7 and 8).


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 4: 43-:44 and at 5:47-:48 (“we don’t know when the annular tear occurred”).


� Id. at 4:32-:33; 4:43-:44.


� Id. at 4:47-:48; at 4:57-:59; at 4:59- 5:00 (noting employee reportedly off all medications by time of Dr. Anderson’s examination on 6/8/05, concluding “exacerbation only [of] a week.”).


� Id.at 5:03-:05.


� Id. at 5:06-5:07.  Dr. Brooks noted that he could not completely eliminate workplace conditions as a cause of the employee’s current symptoms and need for surgery, but that the 6/1/05 employment, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty,  was “probably not the cause” of the employee’s current need for L3-4-5 fusion.


� Id. at 5:14-:17.


� Id. at 5:37-:41.


� Id. at 5:43-:44.


� Id. at 12:33-12:34.


� 5/13/08 Hrg. Rec. at 12:34-12:35 (testimony of Mr. Smith); cf. Employer’s Exh. A, page 5, item 7.f.


� Id. at 12:34-12:35.


� Id. at 12:40-12:42.


� Id. at 12:54-12:57.


� Id. at 3:59-4:03.


� Id. at 4:03-4:04; 4:12-4:13.


� Id. at 4:09-4:11.


� Id. at 4:04-4:06.


� Id. at 12:42-12:52.


� Id. at 3:53-3:54.


� Id. at 12:49-12:50.


� Id. at 3:54-3:55.


� Id. at 3:39-3:41; cf. Employer’s Exhibit B, page 6.


� Employer’s  Exhibit B, page 6.


�5/13/08 Hrg.Rec. at 3:39-3:42; see also Employer’s Exhibit B, page 6 (photograph circled in pink, with employee’s marginalia).


� 11/13/07 PHC Summary, at page 1.


� 12/6/07 D. Milam, paralegal, Alaska Legal Svcs. Corp., to T. Batchelor filed with 12/6/07 [Employee’s] Notice of Intent to Rely (filed 12/10/07).


� 5/7/08 Affidavit of Counsel (filed 5/9/08); 5/21/08 Affidavit of Counsel (filed 6/2/08).


� 5/7/08 Affidavit of Counsel, attachment at page 4 entries from 6/7/08 to 7/19/07).


� Olafson v. State, DOT, AWCAC Dec. No. 061, at page 19 (Oct. 25, 2007).  


� Id. at 27-30.


� AWCB Dec. No. 05-0289 (Nov. 8, 2005).


� Id. at pages 9-10.


� Bass v. Veterinary Specialists of Alaska, AWCB Dec. no. 08-0093 (May 16, 2008), at pages 17-18 (discussing admission of SIME letter), applying Gamez v. United Parcel Service, AWCB Decision No. 05-0289 (Nov. 8, 2005); Groom v. State of Alaska, DOT, AWCB Decision No. 02-0217 (Oct. 24, 2002); Cossette v. Providence Health Systems, AWCB Decision No. 08-0013 (Jan. 11, 2008).


� AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008), at 4.  


� Id., at 5.


� Id.


� 8 AAC 45.092(f)(3).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


�Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316; DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Id. at 869.  


� Norcon v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� E.g., Phillip Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 728-29, n. 3 (Alaska 1999), citing Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1982)(citing cases).


� United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983), quoting Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d at 590, 597-598 (Alaska 1979).


� See, e.g., Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler , 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987); Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d at 595.


� VECO. Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 868 n.1 (Alaska 1985).


� See, e.g., Wolfer v. VECO, Inc., 852 P.2d 1171, 1172-73 (Alaska 1993)(last injurious exposure rule does not apply to out-of-state employment).


� United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983), quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598.


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler , 747 P.2d at 533.


� We find the preponderance of the evidence shows that the truck was equipped with power steering, although we note that the only evidence to support this finding is the checked box on the June 15, 2005 Boyer inspection report, Employer’s Exhibit A, page 5.


� 6/1/05 K. Welser, PA-C, Chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0340.


� 6/8/05 N. Anderson, MD, Chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0343 (reciting plan to obtain a lumber MRI and to follow up with an orthopedist); 6/8/05 N. Anderson, MD, Physician’s Report, SIME Medical Recors at 0344, Block 34 (noting plan for MRI and referral for orthopedic evaluation).


� 8/9/06 G. Bozarth, MD, Chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0406-07.


� 12/10/96 P. Schwaegler, MD, Chart note (reciting “significant amount of angular motion at the L3-4 level as expected” on flexion/extension lateral x-rays), SIME Medical Records at 0277;  12/19/96 S.J. Nichols, MD, Report of MRI of the Lumbar Spine (noting “some interim development of central protrusion intervertebral disc L3-4 level with, however, no definite nerve root impingement”), SIME Medical Records at 0278; 1/7/97 P. Schwaegler, MD, Chart note (disc at L3-4 “reasonably well hydrated” but “does appear to have a disc herniation at L3-4”); 2/18/06 P. Schwaegler, MD, Chart note and reports of Lumbar Discogram at L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1 (reciting negative inducement of pain symptoms on injection at L3-4, but “unequivocally positive” results on injection at L4-5 and L5-S1).


� We reviewed the videotape of the employee, and we find they show an individual ambulating in a manner that is consistent with the descriptions in the medical record.  We find the videotapes do not support a statement made in the investigator’s report, which asserts that the employee “stood outside to finish smoking a cigarette . . . .”  12/28/05 D.H. Johnson, Northern Investigative Services, Report of Surveillance and Videotaping, at page 3, filed with 4/22/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 4/23/-08).  We did not observe the employee smoking during the videotapes, although there are some passages where it appears that the employee is standing outside a building talking to another person, who is obstructed from view by the corner of a building.   We ultimately found the videotapes support the employee’s reports of continuing pain and limitations.


� We find the employee’s initial report to Dr. Anderson of the initial stopping use of Vicodin and Flexeril, and the employee’s declination of pain medications on the first consult with Dr. Wolf (after having received an epidural injection with temporary relief on that visit) were the hopeful efforts of a man who had previously been dependent upon opioids, and who wanted to avoid return to them.  We find that, in any event, the employee was re-prescribed Vicodin by July 12, 2005, 41 days after the June 1, 2005 roll-over, and has continued to receive opioid and other pain medications continuously since then.





� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� E.g., Clayton v. Glacier Village Super Market, AWCB Dec. No. 05-0018 (Jan. 24, 2005), at page 5. 


� Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978); Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P.2d  1184, 1190 (Alaska 1993).


� Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986),


� See, e.g., Thompson v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., AWCB Decision No. 98-0315 (December 14, 1998).


� See Tucker v. Hennager, AWCB Dec. No. 07-0119 (May 11, 2007); Lozano v. Diamond Roofing and Construction, AWCB Dec. No. 05-0131 (May 19, 2005); McKinney v. Cordovsa, DDS., AWCB Dec. No. 05-0129 (May 13, 2005).


� (137.68 hours X $250 per hour).
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